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         1       MR WIGNEY:   Commissioner, before the hearings proceed this

         2       morning, there is a matter that needs to be dealt with

         3       concerning a claim for public interest immunity.  There has

         4       been a delay, we understand, in relation to the preparation

         5       of a statutory declaration to deal with that matter.  We

         6       would request, Commissioner, an adjournment until

         7       12 o'clock today so that that matter can be dealt with.  We

         8       do not believe that the witnesses can be dealt with before

         9       that particular claim is dealt with.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Mr Judd?

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I have a matter that will take

        14       10 or 15 minutes that I wish to raise at a convenient time,

        15       whether now or at 12 o'clock.  It concerns the DFAT

        16       witnesses.  If it's convenient I can do it now, so that if

        17       any decisions are made, perhaps they can be attended to

        18       over that period of time.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   We have had an opportunity to look at the 41-odd

        23       statements, some of which, of course, are further

        24       statements by the DFAT witnesses.  A number of concerns

        25       arise as a consequence of what we read.  The DFAT position,

        26       it would seem, sir, at least taking the statements at face

        27       value, is clear enough.  It might be summarised in this

        28       way, that the relevant officers of DFAT, in processing

        29       contracts, did so as a sort of post box and in that process

        30       did not themselves review or examine the contracts to

        31       ensure compliance with the UN resolutions.  When issuing

        32       export permits, it was done, apparently, on the basis of

        33       approval which had been granted by the United Nations.

        34       That's the general tenor of the material, as we understand

        35       it.

        36

        37            If that position is to be accepted by the Commission

        38       ultimately, it would seem to us that the role of DFAT

        39       officers in relation to AWB and dealings with it becomes

        40       entirely material in the approval process, and there would

        41       seem to be a lack of utility in pursuing any inquiry into

        42       whether or not AWB personnel misled DFAT.  But if it is

        43       going to be alleged by counsel assisting that DFAT was

        44       misled by AWB officers in any material respect, we had

        45       better, in our submission, be told sooner than later, and

        46       told whether it will be contended ultimately that there is

        47       a consequential breach of Australian law which would follow
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         1       from such conduct.

         2

         3            If that be the case, if such an allegation is to be

         4       made that DFAT was misled and that in some way what was

         5       said or not said to DFAT was material in relation to a

         6       breach of the sanctions, that gives rise to a different

         7       problem and it's one that concerns the documentary evidence

         8       which is made available by the Commission, either in

         9       documents that have already been tendered or in documents

        10       that have been attached to these statements.

        11

        12            If it's an issue for AWB and AWB employees who may be

        13       separately represented to grapple with of the prospect of

        14       dealing with DFAT on the basis that it might be said that

        15       there was a material misleading, then we are entitled to a

        16       great number of documents that haven't hitherto been

        17       produced.  I understand that one of the parties has already

        18       communicated with the Commission about documents, or some

        19       documents, but in our submission we would be entitled to

        20       see all of the relevant documents which relate to the

        21       conduct of DFAT dealing with the Oil-for-Food Program.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Otherwise than in relation to AWB?

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Otherwise than in relation to AWB?  Let's

        26       confine it for the moment to AWB and the Oil-for-Food

        27       Program, and perhaps those matters that might bear upon

        28       communications, and the like, between AWB and DFAT, but we

        29       say it doesn't just stop there.

        30

        31            We don't have, for example, at least so far as I'm

        32       aware, communications between DFAT and the UN, which may be

        33       material to the state of knowledge that DFAT has or had in

        34       relation to some of the relevant matters, and in particular

        35       matters which bear upon the trucking fees and approvals,

        36       and the like.  We see various cables alluding to the

        37       position of the UN and communications, but we don't see

        38       those communications.

        39

        40            We don't see communications with member countries, for

        41       example.  Now, the relevance of that might be

        42       communications between those countries dealing with the

        43       information provided by the P&O officer, to take one

        44       example.  You'll recall, sir, that he gave evidence through

        45       his statutory declaration that certain information was

        46       provided to the British government and some to the United

        47       States government, and there was information placed on the
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         1       web sites, and the like.  That provides a factual

         2       foundation which was either communicated to DFAT or wasn't.

         3

         4            We don't have from DFAT what we would expect to be the

         5       other side of communications with AWB.  Now, these

         6       documents may well have been provided.  The Commission may

         7       have them.  But we haven't seen them.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm sorry, documents between?

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   AWB and DFAT.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   You would have those, would you not?

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   We have one side of the equation, but we don't

        16       have the other side of the equation that may contain, for

        17       example, handwritten notes, there may be comments, there

        18       may be evidence of the on-sending of material.  We have

        19       some confirmation material from DFAT, for example, about

        20       what was on-sent to the UN.  But one of the problems or

        21       issues that may arise is precisely what it was that DFAT

        22       received.  There are a number of faxes that I have in mind

        23       which enclose contracts.  In seeking to reconstruct what it

        24       was the emails contained, we are experiencing some

        25       difficulty, simply because of the company records, as to

        26       what it was precisely sitting behind the fax.

        27

        28            Now, we would expect that, in the ordinary course,

        29       DFAT would have its own record of that receipt and a record

        30       of what it was that it on-sent to the United Nations, and

        31       it may be quite a material piece of evidence.

        32

        33            We don't have the handwritten notes of DFAT officers,

        34       and in some of the statements reference is made to

        35       handwritten notes, and these notes are not produced.

        36       Perhaps in many instances they won't be material, but

        37       ordinarily one would have thought that if we are fixed with

        38       an obligation to at least consider the way in which we

        39       would deal with any allegation of misleading, we should

        40       have those.

        41

        42            It might be said, sir, that we ought to have the

        43       product of any internal investigation carried out by DFAT.

        44       That, of course, would be subject to any claims for legal

        45       professional privilege or public interest immunity, but of

        46       course we understand from at least one statement that there

        47       was an internal investigation which was undertaken.
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         1

         2            If the inquiry is to be extended into post

         3       Oil-for-Food issues of the kind traversed the other day, we

         4       would have thought that we would be entitled to see records

         5       of interviews, internal communications, and the like,

         6       concerning DFAT's response to the Volcker Inquiry.  So that

         7       if such an allegation - that is, that we have in some way

         8       misled DFAT in a material respect --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why would you be entitled to see DFAT's

        11       response to Volcker?

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   Why?  Because they may contain admissions as to

        14       what information DFAT had and what it didn't.  If such an

        15       allegation of misleading is to be made, we contend, sir,

        16       that we're entitled to have those categories of material at

        17       least and an opportunity to digest it.

        18

        19            I'm not suggesting that as a palatable course for our

        20       part, because in our submission it does seem from the

        21       material produced by DFAT that what it was they were doing

        22       was entirely immaterial to the approval process.  If that's

        23       so, if there's to be no allegation that the conduct of AWB

        24       officers in relation to DFAT and the communications had

        25       with DFAT was in any material respect misleading, we ask

        26       the question what are we doing here?  On one view, sir,

        27       this whole inquiry becomes completely arid.  I say so for

        28       this reason, and in all seriousness, because it seems to us

        29       that if it is not going to be alleged - and we think this

        30       is highly likely - that there is a material misleading of

        31       DFAT, then one has to turn attention on the United Nations.

        32       Is it going to be alleged that there's a material

        33       misleading of the United Nations such as would disclose a

        34       breach of some Australian law?

        35

        36            Now, we don't anticipate from the course of this

        37       inquiry as planned that we are going to hear from a raft of

        38       United Nations officers and have an opportunity to traverse

        39       with them the issues that might be exposed by an allegation

        40       that the UN was misled in some material respect.  Of course

        41       the inquiry has already had advice on the issue of the

        42       question in relation to the resolutions as part of

        43       Australian law.

        44

        45            If that is so, if we are right about our conclusion

        46       that it's unlikely that the UN is called or that UN

        47       officers are called, then we have to ask, sir, why it is
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         1       that this inquiry is proceeding further unless it's

         2       proceeding down a path which has to do not so much with the

         3       Oil-for-Food Program, not so much with the conduct referred

         4       to in the Volcker Report, but for some other reason, and

         5       that other reason may be the one traversed the other day in

         6       the exchange between yourself, sir, and myself concerning

         7       the issues of corporate governance concerning the conduct

         8       of the board of the AWB.

         9

        10            Putting that issue to one side, we would have to

        11       contend, sir, that the conduct of this investigation, in

        12       absence of that kind of issue, in absence of an issue

        13       concerning the response by the board of AWB, in absence of

        14       an issue which concerns an examination of the board's or

        15       AWB's internal examination, this inquiry really has, with

        16       the greatest of respect, nowhere to go.

        17

        18            It can't be seriously contended, we submit, that

        19       bribes were paid to anyone.  The colourful term of

        20       "kickback", sir, is one that, in our submission, is now

        21       demonstrated to be a complete misnomer.  At worst, we are

        22       concerned with a payment or payments to Iraq of something

        23       in the nature of government levies, trucking fees and a

        24       10 per cent tariff in a currency other than dinar, when

        25       conversion was impossible.  So that's the worst-case

        26       scenario.  At best, these payments were approved by the

        27       conduct of the United Nations 661 Committee.

        28

        29            What that means, sir, in our submission, is that if we

        30       are correct in concluding from these particular DFAT

        31       statements that ultimately it won't and can't be contended

        32       that there is any material misleading, in our submission

        33       the opportunity for this Commission to make any proper

        34       findings in relation to breaches of Australian law has

        35       evaporated, unless there is to be some change or extension

        36       or enlargement of the terms of reference to create an

        37       entirely new area for investigation.

        38

        39            But the immediate problem is one of documents.  If it

        40       is to be contended that there is a live issue of AWB

        41       misleading in some material respect DFAT, that ought to be

        42       made abundantly clear and we ought to have such material

        43       bearing upon that issue, at the very least, that the

        44       Commission has available to it so that we can address that

        45       issue in our examination of DFAT witnesses.  If that's not

        46       so, then our examination of DFAT witnesses will take a very

        47       different course.
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         1

         2            That's the matter that I wish to raise with you, sir.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Judd.  I'm sure counsel

         5       assisting and Mr Robertson will both give consideration to

         6       what you've said.  I'll adjourn until midday.

         7

         8       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, if it please the Commission, I

        11       now propose to make a short opening statement dealing with

        12       the next phase of the public hearings of this inquiry.

        13       That phase deals with the knowledge of the Commonwealth of

        14       Australia.

        15

        16            The focus of the next section of the inquiry will be

        17       on the knowledge of the Commonwealth.  Commissioner, as you

        18       explained in your statement on 3 February 2006, whilst the

        19       terms of reference of the inquiry are directed to whether

        20       any decision, action, conduct, payment or writing of the

        21       three Australian companies named in the Volcker Report

        22       might have constituted a breach of any law of the

        23       Commonwealth or a State or Territory, it is nevertheless

        24       necessary for this inquiry to investigate and make findings

        25       in relation to the knowledge of the Commonwealth of the

        26       relevant facts.  This is because within the range of

        27       offences which must be considered by the inquiry are

        28       various offences of imposing upon or defrauding the

        29       Commonwealth prescribed first in the Crimes Act 1914 and

        30       later in the Criminal Code.

        31

        32            In considering whether the Commonwealth was imposed

        33       upon or defrauded, it is self-evident that it is necessary

        34       to have regard to whether the Commonwealth knew the facts

        35       said to give rise to the imposition or fraud.  When I refer

        36       to the Commonwealth in this context, I include within it,

        37       firstly, officers of any relevant Commonwealth department,

        38       including, of course, the Department of Foreign Affairs and

        39       Trade, to which I will refer as "DFAT", but also including

        40       other departments; secondly, officers of any other relevant

        41       Commonwealth body or authority - for example, Austrade and

        42       the Wheat Export Authority; and, thirdly, ministers and

        43       their staff.

        44

        45            As was explained in your statement on 3 February, what

        46       follows is that this inquiry will address, and those

        47       assisting you will submit that you should make findings
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         1       regarding, at least the following:  (a), the role of DFAT

         2       in the process of obtaining United Nations approvals of

         3       contracts, including AWB wheat contracts and the relevant

         4       contracts entered into by Rhine Ruhr and Alkaloids of

         5       Australia within the United Nations Oil-for-Food Program;

         6       (b), the knowledge of the Commonwealth in relation to such

         7       contracts and, in particular, whether the Commonwealth knew

         8       that incorporated in the contracts were sums which were

         9       paid to Iraq on account of trucking fees or aftersale

        10       service fees or otherwise; (c), what AWB told the

        11       Commonwealth and, in particular, DFAT, relating to the

        12       Iraqi wheat contracts, as well as what Rhine Ruhr and

        13       Alkaloids of Australia told DFAT about their contracts;

        14       and, (d), whether the Commonwealth, and in particular DFAT,

        15       knew or was informed from any other source about payments

        16       made by AWB to Alia and whatever knowledge AWB may be found

        17       to have had about those payments.

        18

        19            Mr Stott has asserted that he had a conversation with

        20       DFAT about the trucking fees and AWB's wish for DFAT's

        21       approval for it to enter into discussions with Jordanian

        22       trucking companies.  He has further asserted that

        23       Ms Drake-Brockman informed him that DFAT had looked into

        24       Alia.  I have not set out exhaustively the material sourced

        25       from AWB that suggests that DFAT was informed of aspects of

        26       AWB's dealings with Iraq.  It is sufficient for present

        27       purposes to note that this material requires investigation

        28       and that our inquiries have been directed to this end,

        29       amongst others.  The point is that, evidence having been

        30       given by AWB officers, it is necessary for the inquiry to

        31       address this evidence and, in due course, for findings to

        32       be made in relation to it.

        33

        34            Investigations, documents and statutory declarations

        35       produced.  Since shortly after the inquiry commenced, those

        36       assisting you have been conducting investigations into the

        37       knowledge of the Commonwealth.  This has involved, first,

        38       the service of notices to produce documents on seven

        39       Commonwealth departments, including DFAT, the Department of

        40       the Prime Minister and Cabinet, the Department of Defence,

        41       the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, the

        42       Attorney-General's Department and Treasury, a number of

        43       Commonwealth authorities or agencies, including Austrade,

        44       AusAid, Customs and the Australian Federal Police, and a

        45       number of intelligence agencies;  second, the sending of

        46       requests to produce documents to the offices of a number of

        47       ministers, including the Prime Minister, the Minister for
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         1       Foreign Affairs, the Minister for Trade, the Minister for

         2       Defence, the Minister For Agriculture, Fisheries and

         3       Forestry, the Attorney-General and the Treasurer; and,

         4       third, requests to over 30 current or former officers or

         5       employees of the Commonwealth to provide statutory

         6       declarations in relation to their involvement in relevant

         7       matters.

         8

         9            A very large number of documents has been produced

        10       pursuant to those notices and requests.  These documents

        11       have been examined by those who assist you.  A number of

        12       these documents have already been tendered at the hearings

        13       and more will be tendered over the following days.  I

        14       should also note, as an administrative matter, that many of

        15       the documents produced were classified in accordance with

        16       the Commonwealth's usual practice.  Large numbers have,

        17       however, now been declassified and can be tendered

        18       publicly.  All DFAT documents with the barcodes DFT.0001 to

        19       0008 have been declassified, even if the copies that have

        20       been imaged and placed on the computer system do not bear a

        21       stamp or notation to the effect that they have been

        22       declassified.

        23

        24            Over 40 statutory declarations have been furnished to

        25       this inquiry and a number more are expected.  Statutory

        26       declarations were tendered on a confidential basis last

        27       Friday.  It is anticipated that the non-publication order

        28       that has been made will be progressively lifted as those

        29       witnesses come to give evidence or as the statutory

        30       declarations are tendered.  I do not expect, however, that

        31       all of the persons who have provided statutory declarations

        32       will be required to give evidence in addition to that which

        33       is in their statutory declarations.

        34

        35            Over the next week or so the hearings will focus on a

        36       number of Commonwealth officers who have provided statutory

        37       declarations and the documents that have been produced.  I

        38       would not endeavour now to outline in detail the contents

        39       of the statutory declarations.  What follows is intended to

        40       be no more than a brief outline of the issues that will be

        41       addressed in the evidence.

        42

        43            Systems and practices of DFAT in relation to the

        44       Oil-for-Food Program.  A number of officers will address

        45       the systems and practices that were followed by DFAT in

        46       relation to the submission of contracts under the

        47       Oil-for-Food Program to the United Nations for approval
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         1       under the program, and the granting of permissions to

         2       export goods under the Customs (Prohibited Exports)

         3       Regulations.  The main witnesses in relation to this issue

         4       will be Ms Bronte Moules, who was posted to the Australian

         5       Mission to the United Nations in New York, and Mr Don

         6       Cuddihy, who was the DFAT Iraq desk officer during much of

         7       the relevant period.

         8

         9            In this context, it must be recalled that the

        10       UN Security Council Resolutions imposing the sanctions

        11       against Iraq were not part of domestic Australian law.

        12       However, a number of Commonwealth regulations, including

        13       the Customs (Prohibited Exports) Regulations, at the

        14       relevant time gave domestic effect to the Security Council

        15       Resolutions.  In very general terms, the effect of these

        16       regulations was to prohibit the export of goods to Iraq

        17       unless the Minister for Foreign Affairs and Trade granted

        18       permission.

        19

        20            Before granting permission to export, the minister had

        21       to be satisfied that permitting the exportation would not

        22       infringe Australia's international obligations.  The

        23       statutory declarations of the DFAT officers foreshadow that

        24       at least by 2000 or 2001 DFAT saw itself as little more

        25       than a post box in relation to applications to the UN for

        26       approval of contracts under the Oil-for-Food Program.

        27

        28            Applications for approval were received by DFAT in

        29       Canberra, checked to ensure that the application form had

        30       been correctly filled out and all documents had been

        31       provided, and then sent to the Mission in New York, where

        32       they were forwarded to the relevant UN office or committee.

        33       There was apparently no checking by DFAT officers of the

        34       terms of the contracts.  When a contract was approved by

        35       the UN, DFAT performed a similar post box exercise and

        36       communicated this approval back to the company via the

        37       Mission in New York and DFAT in Canberra.

        38

        39            The granting of permissions to export was a similarly

        40       formal and administrative procedure.  Once a contract had

        41       been approved by the UN under the Oil-for-Food Program,

        42       permissions to export goods under the approved contract

        43       were given by a senior officer of DFAT with an appropriate

        44       delegation as a matter of course.

        45

        46            There is some evidence, however, that suggests that

        47       DFAT took a different approach in relation to the Iraq
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         1       sanctions and permissions to export in the mid-1990s.

         2       Documents that have been or will be tendered suggest that

         3       applications for permission to export were more thoroughly

         4       scrutinised by DFAT to ensure that there was no potential

         5       to breach any of the UN sanctions.  An issue that will be

         6       addressed in the evidence is how DFAT apparently came to

         7       change its approach to the assessment of applications to

         8       export.

         9

        10            The November 2000 advice and Mr Stott's evidence.  a

        11       second issue that will be dealt with in the evidence is

        12       whether any advice was obtained by AWB from DFAT in

        13       relation to relevant matters.  A feature of the evidence

        14       heard by the inquiry thus far is that, with the possible

        15       exception of an exchange of correspondence that occurred

        16       between AWB and DFAT in October and November 2000, AWB

        17       never sought DFAT's advice about whether the payment of

        18       trucking fees to Alia was permitted.  The exchange that

        19       occurred in October and November 2000 was between Mr Stott

        20       on behalf of AWB and Ms Drake-Brockman, the then assistant

        21       secretary of the Middle East and Africa branch at DFAT.

        22       Mr Stott has given evidence about this exchange and the

        23       letters are in evidence.  Ms Drake-Brockman will be called

        24       and will, I anticipate, give evidence about the

        25       circumstances in which she came to sign the letter of

        26       2 November 2000.  She will also respond to Mr Stott's

        27       evidence to the effect that he had a conversation with her

        28       concerning Alia.

        29

        30            It is anticipated that Ms Drake-Brockman's evidence

        31       will be that she did not know anything about Alia and did

        32       not have such a conversation with Mr Stott.  An issue that

        33       will be addressed in relation to the 2 November letter

        34       signed by Ms Drake-Brockman is whether, as stated in the

        35       letter, DFAT's international legal division was consulted

        36       in the preparation of the response.  A number of officers

        37       of DFAT's legal branch have provided statutory declarations

        38       in relation to this issue.

        39

        40            The Canadian complaint.  Commissioner, you have heard

        41       of another occasion where Commonwealth instrumentalities

        42       became involved in issues to do with Iraq.  That occasion

        43       is the so-called Canadian complaint.  Evidence adduced so

        44       far suggests that, in about January 2000, the UN Office of

        45       the Iraq Program received a complaint from another country,

        46       since confirmed to be Canada, that the AWB had concluded

        47       contracts whereby it had agreed to make payments of US$14
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         1       per metric tonne outside the Oil-for-Food Program and into

         2       a bank account in Jordan.  This complaint or allegation was

         3       first communicated to Ms Bronte Moules in the Mission in

         4       New York and she reported it by cable to DFAT in Canberra.

         5       The officer of DFAT who appears to have been tasked to deal

         6       with this issue was Mr Bob Bowker, then the director of the

         7       Middle East section.  The issue was raised again in a

         8       series of cables in March 2000.  Ms Moules and Mr Bowker

         9       will be called.  I anticipate that their evidence will

        10       include what they did to deal with and respond to the

        11       complaint.

        12

        13            In considering this transaction and others, evidence

        14       will be led which addresses the manner in which cables were

        15       distributed amongst Commonwealth ministries and agencies.

        16       That evidence will also address the systems and practices

        17       in various ministers' offices in relation to cables where

        18       ministers are listed on the "for information" distribution

        19       list.

        20

        21            DFAT's response to other allegations - the Coalition

        22       Provisional Authority and US Wheat Associates.  Evidence

        23       will also be led concerning DFAT's response to allegations

        24       disseminated during 2003 about AWB's wheat contracts.

        25       After the US-led coalition secured Baghdad in early to mid

        26       2003, the Coalition Provisional Authority released

        27       information to the effect that humanitarian contracts under

        28       the Oil-for-Food Program that had not been finalised would

        29       be renegotiated to remove the 10 per cent aftersales

        30       service fee that the Iraqis had imposed.  At this time

        31       Mr Long was working for the Coalition Provisional

        32       Authority.  At about this time a United States body called

        33       the US Wheat Associates began to publish allegations that

        34       AWB wheat contracts had incorporated in them kickbacks to

        35       the Iraqi authorities.  These allegations were in due

        36       course picked up by a number of US senators and an inquiry

        37       was proposed.

        38

        39            Evidence will be heard from several DFAT officers in

        40       relation to DFAT's response to this information from the

        41       CPA and the allegations by the US Wheat Associates.  One of

        42       these witnesses who will be called is Ms Zena Armstrong,

        43       whose evidence will include, I anticipate, her recollection

        44       of various discussions that she had with Mr Long and AWB

        45       officers about these allegations.  Suffice it to say at

        46       this stage that it is anticipated that the evidence will be

        47       that Mr Long strenuously denied the allegations on behalf
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         1       of AWB, and DFAT accepted these denials.

         2

         3            Intelligence agencies.  A final category of evidence

         4       that I want to outline in these opening remarks concerns

         5       information obtained during the relevant period by

         6       intelligence agencies within what I will refer to as the

         7       Australian Intelligence Community.  There will, I

         8       anticipate, be a body of evidence led to the effect that

         9       agencies within the Australian Intelligence Community

        10       obtained some potentially relevant information in relation

        11       to the functioning of the Oil-for-Food Program and possible

        12       circumvention of it during the relevant period.  This

        13       information was, well before the announcement of this

        14       inquiry and in the ordinary course of things, and remains

        15       highly classified for reasons which are irrelevant to the

        16       issues which are central to this inquiry's investigations.

        17       Shortly there will be an application on behalf of the

        18       Australian Intelligence Community that public disclosure of

        19       this information would be against the public interest and

        20       is therefore the subject of a claim for public interest

        21       immunity.

        22

        23            I should make clear the steps that have preceded this

        24       application.  They are:  (a), notices to produce documents

        25       were served on agencies within the Australian Intelligence

        26       Community; (b), documents were produced to the inquiry for

        27       inspection by certain solicitors and counsel assisting on

        28       strict terms that they would be kept secret pending any

        29       agreement or application concerning their permitted use;

        30       (c), a large number of documents were inspected by certain

        31       solicitors and counsel assisting the inquiry and a limited

        32       number of documents were selected as being of potential

        33       relevance; (d), these documents have been inspected by you,

        34       Mr Commissioner; and, (e), a claim for public interest

        35       immunity has been foreshadowed in relation to these

        36       documents and confidential statutory declarations have been

        37       provided to the inquiry.  As I have said, and as I

        38       understand, the foreshadowed application will be made

        39       shortly.

        40

        41            Because this material is the subject of a public

        42       interest immunity application, I will not say anything

        43       about it in this opening.  It is sufficient to say at this

        44       stage that an issue that will be addressed with the various

        45       DFAT witnesses is whether they had access to, and did in

        46       fact access, information from intelligence agencies during

        47       the relevant period.  This may be material to a
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         1       consideration of DFAT's responses to, for example, the

         2       Canadian complaint and to a consideration of the knowledge

         3       of the Commonwealth generally.

         4

         5            In relation to some of my learned friend's submissions

         6       this morning, I wish, with great respect to my friend, to

         7       make the following submission:  that my learned friend's

         8       submission misconceives the true nature of an inquiry such

         9       as this.  This inquiry is not a trial, nor is it a

        10       prosecution.  This is an inquiry, the object of which is to

        11       discern the facts and then, and only then, to consider how

        12       those facts measure against the criminal and other laws of

        13       the Commonwealth, of the States and the Territory.

        14

        15            Mr Commissioner, as we understand it, there is an

        16       application for public interest immunity to be made.

        17       However, before that application is made, might I indicate

        18       the following tender of documents.  We have seven volumes -

        19       I believe it's seven volumes - which contain communications

        20       between AWB and DFAT concerning the relevant contracts.  I

        21       propose to make those seven volumes available.  I will

        22       tender them now as public exhibits.  They will be made

        23       available to my learned friend Mr Judd by 2 o'clock, to

        24       enable him to consider whether there are any aspects of

        25       those volumes that ought to remain or be marked as

        26       confidential exhibits.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark those seven volumes as

        29       exhibit 542.  Pending Mr Judd's examination of them, they

        30       shall remain confidential exhibits and not be published.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #542 SEVEN VOLUMES OF DOCUMENTS WHICH CONTAIN

        33       COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN AWB AND DFAT CONCERNING THE RELEVANT

        34       CONTRACTS

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   In addition, Mr Commissioner, I have three

        37       volumes of contract documents and permissions, and that is

        38       permissions to export, and related documents.  I have those

        39       three volumes and I would ask that they be marked as

        40       confidential exhibits.  They include material which the AWB

        41       seeks to have suppressed as commercially confidential.

        42       That material includes the tonnages shipped and the names

        43       of ships.  We are in the process of producing a public

        44       version of those three volumes.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #216C THREE VOLUMES OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND

        47       PERMISSIONS TO EXPORT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the public version of the three

         3       volumes as soon as it's available.  I understand that there

         4       is an application to be made, as I've said.  In that

         5       regard, as I noted in the opening remarks, we have received

         6       three statutory declarations regarding the claim for public

         7       interest immunity which is made, and is being made, in the

         8       interests of national security.  I tender those three

         9       statutory declarations and ask that they be marked as

        10       confidential exhibits.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark them as secret exhibits, I

        13       think.  Would you pass those up, please?

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I will say no more about those,

        16       Mr Commissioner.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall mark the three affidavits as

        19       secret affidavit 1, secret affidavit 2 and secret affidavit

        20       3.  I will initial those documents.

        21

        22       EXHIBIT #S1 SECRET AFFIDAVIT 1

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #S2 SECRET AFFIDAVIT 2

        25

        26       EXHIBIT #S3 SECRET AFFIDAVIT 3

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   The inquiry was expecting to receive by this

        29       time a statutory declaration which we understood would be a

        30       public statutory declaration which in fact makes the claim

        31       for secrecy in relation to those documents.  I'm not aware

        32       that that statutory declaration has been received.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Burmester?

        35

        36       MR BURMESTER:   Yes, Mr Commissioner, can I seek leave, on

        37       behalf of the Commonwealth, in relation to national

        38       security issues, to appear before the Commission.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that leave is granted on the usual

        41       terms.

        42

        43       MR BURMESTER:   Thank you, Commissioner.  I expect to be

        44       assisted for some of the times by Mr Howe and Mr Berger.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   They equally have leave.

        47
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         1       MR BURMESTER:   Commissioner, you have received three

         2       secret affidavits.  I understand there is to be a further

         3       open affidavit.  I am unfortunately not able to say when

         4       precisely that will be received.  I am informed that all

         5       efforts are being made to have it here by close of business

         6       today, but I am not in a position to give any assurance in

         7       that regard.

         8

         9            It may be, Commissioner, you feel it possible to deal

        10       with the public interest claim in relation to the secret

        11       affidavits without that accompanying open affidavit.  I

        12       have some submissions as to why a particular order should

        13       be made under section 6D of the Royal Commissions Act,

        14       which would limit access to the secret affidavits and the

        15       material to which they relate.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Mr Agius, I think you also have a

        18       volume of secret documents, do you not?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   We do, Mr Commissioner.  I have a volume of

        21       documents marked AIC1 to 15 and also marked "Witness Copy".

        22       These are the 15 documents that you, Mr Commissioner, have

        23       selected, the documents having been examined by some

        24       solicitors assisting and counsel assisting, including

        25       myself.  I would ask that that volume so marked be also

        26       marked as a secret exhibit.  I do propose in due course to

        27       take each of the Commonwealth witnesses who are relevant to

        28       that volume and to ask them, by reference to the

        29       15 documents, without disclosing the nature or content of

        30       the documents, what their knowledge is of them.  So I would

        31       ask that exception to be accommodated in any order that is

        32       made restricting publication of the document.  Beyond that,

        33       I have no submission to make.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will mark the bundle of secret

        36       documents as secret exhibit 4.

        37

        38       EXHIBIT #S4 BUNDLE OF SECRET DOCUMENTS

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Burmester, I have read the three

        41       secret affidavits and I have read the documents which are

        42       secret exhibit S4.  I am prepared to address your

        43       application on the basis of those affidavits.

        44

        45       MR BURMESTER:   Thank you, Commissioner.  It may assist if

        46       I hand up --

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have also read, if I may say so, the

         2       submissions which were provided to me yesterday in support

         3       of the application.

         4

         5       MR BURMESTER:   Commissioner, if you have those

         6       submissions, could I take you to paragraph 7, which sets

         7       out the form of directions which we seek.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        10

        11       MR BURMESTER:   They are - perhaps it would assist if I

        12       read it out:  the relevant documents and the secret

        13       statutory declaration shall not be published, except for,

        14       (a), they may be viewed by the Commissioner and the counsel

        15       and solicitors assisting the inquiry; and, (b), witnesses

        16       who might be expected to have seen the relevant documents

        17       at the time they were officers of the Department of Foreign

        18       Affairs and Trade may be shown copies of the relevant

        19       documents and asked questions about them in a way that does

        20       not disclose in any way the contents of the exhibit, the

        21       source of the contents of the exhibit or the originating

        22       agency of the contents of the exhibit, save and except as

        23       specifically authorised by the Commission in respect of any

        24       particular disclosures, which authorisation shall only be

        25       given after the Australian Intelligence Community has been

        26       heard on the question of such disclosure.  They're the

        27       orders I seek, Commissioner.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.  Application has been

        30       made by the Commonwealth on behalf of a number of

        31       Commonwealth agencies within the Australian Intelligence

        32       Community, AIC, that there not be published, (a), certain

        33       documents produced to this inquiry by the AIC; and, (b),

        34       affidavits in support of the application.  In support of

        35       the application, I have received three statutory

        36       declarations which I have been asked to keep secret.  They

        37       are marked secret 1, secret 2 and secret 3 respectively and

        38       have been initialled by me.  The documents produced by the

        39       AIC are contained in a folder which I have marked secret

        40       exhibit 4.

        41

        42            The grounds upon which the application is brought are

        43       that the public interest requires that the documents and

        44       the affidavits remain secret because, (a), the documents

        45       are highly classified for national security reasons and,

        46       (b), the statutory declarations, if disclosed, might reveal

        47       information which might defeat the protection of the



            .14/3/06 (45)              4453

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       documents which the Commonwealth seeks to invoke.

         2

         3            The submissions in support of the application contend

         4       that public disclosure of the documents would, (a), reduce

         5       Australia's intelligence partners' willingness to provide

         6       further information to Australia's intelligence and law

         7       enforcement agencies; and, (b), compromise sources and

         8       methods of intelligence collection and thereby seriously

         9       prejudice Australia's national security, defence, law

        10       enforcement and foreign liaison interests.  The secret

        11       statutory declarations establish those grounds for the

        12       orders sought and authorities cited.

        13

        14            The power of this inquiry to make appropriate orders

        15       for non-disclosure of both the documents and the secret

        16       statutory declarations is undoubted.  See section 6D(3)(b)

        17       of the Royal Commissions Act 1902 (Commonwealth).  There is

        18       precedent for commissions of inquiry making such orders,

        19       and authority is cited.

        20

        21            I have considered whether it is appropriate to

        22       restrict availability of the documents and secret statutory

        23       declarations to two counsel and two solicitors assisting

        24       the inquiry and to myself to the exclusion of both lawyers

        25       assisting the inquiry and, more importantly, counsel and

        26       solicitors representing AWB Limited and individual

        27       witnesses called at this inquiry.  I have formed the view

        28       that access should be so restricted.  This means that

        29       counsel appearing for AWB Limited and witnesses are unable

        30       adequately to address argument to me as to why such orders

        31       should not be made.  This position has been recognised by

        32       the courts, which have held that, in an appropriate case,

        33       and, in particular, where issues of national security are

        34       involved, that undesirable consequence must nonetheless

        35       give way to the national interest.  Authority is cited.

        36

        37            I have considered the secret documents.  It will be

        38       necessary for a distillation of the material in those

        39       documents to be made which does not disclose the source of

        40       the information nor permit persons who may have access to

        41       the distillation to determine from whence it came or how it

        42       was collected or received.  The appropriate course is for

        43       the Commonwealth, on behalf of the AIC, to provide to me a

        44       draft document which, in the view of the AIC, does not

        45       disclose material which ought not, in the public interest,

        46       be disclosed and which satisfies the Commonwealth that the

        47       summation does not infringe Australia's national security
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         1       interest.  I will then consider that summation and, if

         2       satisfied that it is a sufficient and adequate summation of

         3       the material in the secret documents, will then publish it.

         4

         5            Four copies of the secret documents have been provided

         6       to the inquiry.  One is for my use.  Two are for the use of

         7       nominated counsel and solicitors assisting the inquiry.  A

         8       fourth is available to be shown to witnesses who are

         9       understood to have the appropriate security clearance

        10       entitling them to see the documents.  If a distillation of

        11       those documents is published, once the evidence of

        12       witnesses who might be shown the secret documents is

        13       complete, I direct that the four copies of those documents

        14       and the secret statutory declarations be returned to the

        15       solicitor for the Commonwealth so that they may be returned

        16       to the relevant agencies within the AIC upon those agencies

        17       undertaking to the solicitor for the inquiry to produce

        18       such secret documents and secret affidavits upon 24 hours

        19       notice from this inquiry.

        20

        21            Pursuant to section 6D of the Royal Commissions Act

        22       1902, I order that, 1, the secret statutory declarations

        23       and secret documents marked secret 1, 2, 3 and 4

        24       respectively not be published, save that, (a), they may be

        25       viewed by the Commissioner and nominated counsel and

        26       solicitors assisting the inquiry, being Messrs Agius SC,

        27       Wigney, Owbridge and Kamencak; and, (b), witnesses who

        28       might be expected to have seen the secret documents at the

        29       time they were officers of the Department of Foreign

        30       Affairs and Trade may be shown a copy of the secret

        31       documents and asked questions about them in a manner that

        32       does not disclose in any way, 1, the contents of the

        33       documents, 2, the sources of the contents of the documents,

        34       or, 3, the originating agency of the contents of the

        35       documents, unless any particular disclosure is specifically

        36       authorised by me.

        37

        38            I indicate that I will not authorise any such

        39       particular disclosure until the Commonwealth has been given

        40       the opportunity to be heard regarding any such contemplated

        41       disclosure.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, you might well understand the

        44       difficulty confronting the party interested in documents

        45       such as these to make submissions.  That indeed has been

        46       reflected in some of the authorities that no doubt are

        47       referred to by you, sir.  That doesn't mean to say that we
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         1       don't have something to say about it.

         2

         3            My learned friend responded very briefly earlier to

         4       some submissions I made this morning in his absence, and

         5       making those submissions in his absence was not intended as

         6       any disrespect to him.  Indeed, you will recall, sir, that

         7       I suggested perhaps they ought to be made at a different

         8       time.  Nevertheless, he had opportunity to look at them and

         9       has responded very briefly.  One matter that he raised was

        10       that I had misconceived the true nature of this inquiry,

        11       and we reject that notion.  The second was to contend that

        12       the purpose of this inquiry is to assess the facts.

        13

        14            Insofar as this Commission will descend into an

        15       assessment of facts concerning the state of knowledge of

        16       DFAT, and insofar as that assessment of fact and any

        17       conclusions might be adverse to the interests of the AWB,

        18       the circumstances that have now been canvassed by you, sir,

        19       in connection with this secret material, which include the

        20       fact, sir, that you have reviewed it and we are not able to

        21       gain access to it, mean that any such adverse findings will

        22       deny or will amount to, in our submission, a breathtaking

        23       denial of natural justice.  We oppose such a course.  We

        24       say that it's unprecedented.  What ought to have occurred

        25       in order to deal with the national interest insofar as it

        26       is demonstrated in the affidavits is for the application to

        27       have been made in another place in response to a notice to

        28       produce.  That would mean, sir, that the material would not

        29       be available to the Commission for its consideration and

        30       for the secret consideration of witnesses, as is now

        31       proposed to be the case.

        32

        33            I do want to put it on record that if this position is

        34       to persist, we will be contending at an appropriate time,

        35       and perhaps in an appropriate place, that any findings that

        36       are made adverse to the interests of AWB in connection with

        37       the state of knowledge of DFAT will involve a significant

        38       and material denial of natural justice.

        39

        40       MR FORREST:   On behalf of the employees for whom I appear,

        41       Mr Commissioner, we adopt those submissions.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Mr Commissioner, on behalf of Mr Stott, we

        46       express our regret at the course that the proceedings have

        47       taken this morning.  I think that it's fair to say that
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         1       much of this may have been provoked by the evidence of our

         2       client when he indicated that he was relying upon

         3       monitoring of Iraq by agencies of this country.  Having

         4       said that, it would appear that at least the public

         5       perception would be, if not the reality, if there was such

         6       monitoring and our client relied upon it, that evidence

         7       will not see the light of day in this inquiry.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought I had just indicated a course

        10       which would have the opposite effect?

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   I'm sorry?

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought I had just indicated a course

        15       which would have the opposite effect.

        16

        17       MR LACAVA:   Well, we won't be able to examine or test any

        18       of that evidence, Commissioner.  What effectively your

        19       order or direction means is that we should trust the

        20       inquiry, trust you, and trust counsel assisting, to get to

        21       the bottom of the matter.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do you mean by that?  What I have

        24       said is that I will be given a draft of a summation of the

        25       material in these secret documents, and once I'm satisfied

        26       that it's adequate to reflect those documents I will

        27       publish it.  That's what happens normally in a claim such

        28       as this.  It's not infrequent that a judge has to say the

        29       parties cannot see such documents in the national interest.

        30

        31       MR LACAVA:   That's so, Commissioner.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   In those circumstances, people simply

        34       have to rely upon what a judge does.  In this case it's my

        35       responsibility.

        36

        37       MR LACAVA:   We haven't yet had the opportunity to digest

        38       everything that's happened this morning.  There have been,

        39       as we understand it, a number of documents put before the

        40       inquiry.  We'll have a look at the transcript closely and I

        41       will read again what you had to say about the summary.  The

        42       summary, of course, isn't the actual documents - am I

        43       correct in understanding what you've said this morning is

        44       indeed this, that you will examine the summary, not the

        45       documents themselves?

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   I've read the documents.  I know
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         1       precisely what's in the documents.  The summation will not

         2       be that precise, for the very reason the national interest

         3       won't allow it.

         4

         5       MR LACAVA:   So is it the situation that you'll be

         6       performing, as it's referred to in a number of the

         7       authorities, a balancing exercise --

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   No.  I've upheld the claim, based on

        10       the national interest, because of security and other

        11       considerations.  My intention is that there will be

        12       published a document which sufficiently and accurately

        13       reflects the substance of the material in the secret

        14       documents.  What it will not disclose is any material which

        15       would enable those who may have access to it to determine

        16       from whence it came or how it was collected.

        17

        18       MR LACAVA:   We'll reflect on what you've said --

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   So you will in truth know the substance

        21       of the material in the documents.

        22

        23       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, we'll reflect on what it is that

        24       you've said.  Just before I sit down, could I express our

        25       regret at the way this has unfolded this morning.  We were

        26       given no warning of it.  We haven't been able, even if we

        27       had been permitted, even to consider what arguments we may

        28       wish to put forward.  It's come somewhat as a surprise to

        29       us, especially given the fact that indeed it was the

        30       Commonwealth, through the Prime Minister, who told the

        31       Australian public that this would be a full and open

        32       inquiry.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   And it is, but I would not understand

        35       any statement by anybody to indicate that the conduct of a

        36       full and open inquiry should jeopardise the Australian

        37       national interest.

        38

        39       MR LACAVA:   That's so.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's the claim which has been made on

        42       behalf of the Commonwealth today.  That's the claim which

        43       is not infrequently upheld when it is made, in fact

        44       invariably upheld I think, to a court, and the procedure

        45       which I have outlined is a way of enabling you to know what

        46       in truth is the substance of the material contained in the

        47       secret documents without jeopardising the national
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         1       interest.

         2

         3       MR LACAVA:   Well, we hear what you say, Commissioner.  Of

         4       course we abide by it.  But our suspicions, I might say,

         5       are aroused - exceedingly aroused - by what's happened this

         6       morning.  When one looks to precedent, one cannot lose

         7       sight of what happened in the famous case of Alister, where

         8       an innocent man was deprived of putting a defence and even

         9       that escaped the attention of the High Court because of a

        10       claim similar to this by ASIO in that instance.

        11

        12            We'll reflect on the matter and if we can put any

        13       other meaningful submissions, we will.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, if anybody wishes to make any

        16       further submissions in relation to this matter, you are at

        17       liberty to do so, but I would like to have them in writing

        18       at an early time.

        19

        20       MR LACAVA:   Thank you, sir.

        21

        22       MR FORREST:   Can we simply ask, Commissioner, that when

        23       the public affidavit is prepared, which I understand is in

        24       the pipeline, it be provided to us as soon as possible

        25       because it's almost impossible to make a measured response

        26       without at least some information.  Thank you.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I see the time.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Yes, I don't think we could gainfully start a

        31       witness at this time.  I would expect to be able to start

        32       with Ms Bronte Moules at 2 o'clock.

        33

        34            Can I for my part, having seen these 15 documents,

        35       simply put on the record that, as much as my learned friend

        36       regrets the course of events, this is a course of events

        37       that frequently occurs in courts across the nation.

        38       Frequently claims for public interest immunity are made in

        39       trials where people's liberty is at stake, not just their

        40       reputation.  Frequently those claims are upheld and in

        41       those circumstances counsel for the defence never get to

        42       see the material which is produced in response to process

        43       and never get to see the affidavits upon which the claim is

        44       made.

        45

        46            In this case the course proposed by the inquiry goes

        47       much further than is followed, in my experience, in any
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         1       court, in that there will be a public affidavit or

         2       statement that sets out the basis of the claim and, in

         3       addition, there will be a summary of the material which

         4       provides the gist and substance of the material without

         5       jeopardising the national interest in the consideration of

         6       issues of national security.

         7

         8            For our part we regret the reference to Alister's

         9       case, which we see as otiose and irrelevant to the matter

        10       now before the inquiry.  Is that a convenient time?

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   Could I briefly respond to that, just whilst

        13       we're on it, Commissioner.  I hear what my learned friend

        14       says.  In a number of matters one can only draw on one's

        15       own experience.  It's not accurate, in our respectful

        16       submission, to say that when a claim for public interest

        17       immunity is made invariably counsel for the party concerned

        18       does not see the affidavit upon which the claim is made.

        19       That is simply not the case.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   All I can say is that in my 20-plus years of

        22       experience having made such claims, resisted such claims

        23       and been prosecuting where such claims have been made - it

        24       would be countless times - I've never once had the

        25       experience of defence counsel being shown the material.

        26       But I can only speak of my experience.

        27

        28       MR LACAVA:   Well, my experience is completely the

        29       opposite, sir.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   There you go; the evenhandedness of the

        32       law.  I'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        33

        34       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Commissioner, I call Bronte Moules.

         4

         5       <BRONTE NADINE MOULES, sworn:                [2.06pm]

         6

         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might we have your full name, please?

        10       A.   Bronte Nadine Moules.

        11

        12       Q.   Miss Moules, you appear here today in answer to a

        13       notice requiring your appearance?

        14       A.   Yes, I do.

        15

        16       Q.   We have two statutory declarations from you.  They are

        17       each marked as confidential exhibits, respectively 187 and

        18       188.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender those as public

        21       documents.

        22

        23       EXHIBIT #543 TWO STATUTORY DECLARATIONS OF MS MOULES,

        24       FORMERLY CONFIDENTIAL EXHIBITS 187C AND 188C

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up DFT.0013.0225.  That's

        27       the first page of your first statutory declaration.  If we

        28       go to page 0227, that's the last page of the

        29       four-page document.  Do you say that the contents of that

        30       statutory declaration are true and correct to the best of

        31       your knowledge and belief?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   The second document is at DFT.0013.0622.  That's the

        35       first page of your second statutory declaration.  If we go

        36       to page 0638, is that your signature on the last page of

        37       the second declaration?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Do you say that the contents of that document are true

        41       and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you have copies of them with you?

        45       A.   Yes, I do.

        46

        47       Q.   I am going to go to the first of them, 0225.  In
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         1       paragraph 6 you set out in general the UN Mission's role in

         2       respect of the program and what it included.  At

         3       subparagraph b you speak of receiving from Canberra and

         4       forwarding to the UN applications to export humanitarian

         5       goods to Iraq under the program.  Dealing with the

         6       applications by or on behalf of the Australian Wheat Board

         7       Limited, did you have any facility at the UN Mission to

         8       examine those contracts to determine whether or not the

         9       stated price in the contracts for the quantity of wheat

        10       referred to in the contracts was reasonable?

        11       A.   No, we did not.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you purport to undertake such an exercise at any

        14       time?

        15       A.   No, we did not.

        16

        17       Q.   If we go to paragraph 8 of your statutory declaration,

        18       you say this - this is on page 2:

        19

        20            I have been asked whether DFAT had any role

        21            in checking or approving the contracts that

        22            were submitted to the UN Sanctions

        23            Committee.  DFAT and the UN Mission had no

        24            role in perusing the contracts.  We at the

        25            UN Mission knew that AWB contracts involved

        26            the export of wheat - a humanitarian item

        27            permissible under the Oil-for-Food

        28            Programme.  The UN Mission had neither a

        29            role nor any expertise to consider whether

        30            the pricing of the contracts or any of the

        31            other conditions in the contracts were

        32            appropriate.

        33

        34       And then:

        35

        36            The OIP and the Sanctions Committee

        37            scrutinised and processed the

        38            applications/contracts and contacted the

        39            relevant country UN Mission if they had a

        40            query or concern.

        41

        42       The last sentence, was that a matter of practice with which

        43       you were familiar - that the OIP and the sanctions

        44       committee scrutinised and processed the applications?

        45       A.   Yes, I was aware that they performed that function.

        46

        47       Q.   What was your source of knowledge?
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         1       A.   My source of knowledge was firstly from briefing

         2       sessions that the United Nations provided to interested

         3       Missions.  I attended one or two of those early on in my

         4       posting, and they, in explaining the process, advised the

         5       UN Mission that they would scrutinise the contracts and

         6       that, if there were any queries, they would refer them back

         7       to the Mission.

         8

         9            I was also aware when approval letters came through

        10       from the United Nations approving applications to export,

        11       they had attached to them a report which was prepared by

        12       the Office of the Iraq Program for the sanctions committee,

        13       the 661 committee, and in that report it said that

        14       contracts had been examined for price and value and for

        15       their consistency with relevant resolutions.  So I was

        16       aware that that was a function that was undertaken by the

        17       OIP and the sanctions committee.

        18

        19       Q.   Paragraph 9:

        20

        21            As a general rule the United Nations did

        22            not deal directly with the companies that

        23            were seeking approval to export

        24            humanitarian goods...

        25

        26       What was your source of knowledge in that regard?

        27       A.   Again, as I recall it, at one of the information

        28       sessions I attended fairly early on in my posting the

        29       Office of the Iraq Program advised Missions in one of these

        30       briefing sessions that they did not take inquiries and

        31       requests direct from companies, that the companies should

        32       be directed to deal through the UN Mission.  There may have

        33       been reminders of that during the course of my posting as

        34       well.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you pass that information on to AWB?

        37       A.   My understanding is they were already aware of that

        38       when my posting started.

        39

        40       Q.   From your experience in dealing with AWB, are you able

        41       to say whether or not AWB directed inquiries to you at the

        42       UN Mission?

        43       A.   In my experience, as a rule, they directed inquiries

        44       to me and the only direct dealings that I'm aware of were

        45       when I arranged meetings at the Wheat Board's request for

        46       them to see the UN Treasury.

        47
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         1       Q.   And to meet with UN Treasury officials for what

         2       purpose?

         3       A.   The Wheat Board wished to discuss their trade in

         4       fairly general terms under the Oil-for-Food Program, but

         5       particularly their concerns about payment delays.

         6

         7       Q.   With whom did you deal at AWB?

         8       A.   I dealt primarily with Tim Snowball.

         9

        10       Q.   So in relation to making these arrangements for

        11       meetings between AWB and UN Treasury officials, in the main

        12       you made those arrangements on the AWB side with

        13       Tim Snowball; is that right?

        14       A.   That's correct.

        15

        16       Q.   In paragraph 10 you say:

        17

        18            If the UN Sanctions Committee approved a

        19            contract it would issue an authority to

        20            export.  This authority was received at the

        21            UN Mission and then faxed to Canberra.

        22            Companies, including AWB, were sometimes

        23            also directly notified by the UN Mission.

        24            The UN Mission performed essentially a post

        25            box function with respect to contract

        26            processing.

        27

        28       There you are speaking of the function that was performed

        29       by the Mission - that is, the Australian Mission in New

        30       York; is that right?

        31       A.   That's correct.

        32

        33       Q.   Were you familiar with what processes were followed by

        34       the officers of DFAT in Canberra upon receipt of an

        35       application and a contract to be forwarded to the UN?

        36       A.   I was familiar in general terms, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   What was your understanding of the processes that

        39       would be followed in Canberra upon receipt of such an

        40       application accompanied by a contract - and I think you

        41       refer to this in part in your second statutory declaration,

        42       at paragraphs 2(b) and (c).

        43       A.   Yes.  That's my understanding of the process at DFAT

        44       Canberra upon receipt of an application.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, in 2(b) - this is at DFT.0013.0622 - reads:

        47
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         1            When DFAT Canberra received an application

         2            and contract, they examined the documents

         3            for the purposes of ascertaining that the

         4            application had been completed in

         5            accordance with its terms, so that it

         6            included the information for which the 661

         7            Committee had asked in the application, and

         8            that the goods that were the subject of the

         9            application and contract appeared to be

        10            within the scope of the humanitarian items

        11            permitted under the OFFP.

        12

        13       And then you go on to say:

        14

        15            When it had completed this preliminary

        16            examination of the application and

        17            contract, DFAT Canberra faxed a copy of

        18            both documents to the UN Mission.

        19

        20       Now, you speak there of a preliminary examination, in

        21       paragraph (c), and you speak of the purposes of the

        22       examination in paragraph (b).  Was there any examination,

        23       so far as you are aware, at DFAT in Canberra to determine

        24       whether or not the price disclosed was reasonable for the

        25       quantity of wheat referred to in the contracts?

        26       A.   As far as I'm aware, that wasn't examined.

        27

        28       Q.   Aside from an examination in the terms which you have

        29       described in subparagraphs (b) and (c), were you aware of

        30       whether there was any more detailed examination?

        31       A.   No, I'm not aware that there was any more detailed

        32       examination.

        33

        34       Q.   I want to take you to some documents in that regard

        35       which are not your documents and which relate to a period

        36       of time before 1999 and ask for your comment about them, so

        37       far as your knowledge of the workings of DFAT was concerned

        38       during the Oil-for-Food Program after June of 1999.  Could

        39       we bring up, please, a Department of Foreign Affairs and

        40       Trade ministerial submission, DFT.0013.0509.  I wonder if

        41       you would take a moment to read that, and in particular

        42       paragraphs 4, 7, 8, 9 and 10.  When you get to the bottom

        43       of that page, you will see that a line is missing.  I will

        44       be able to read that to you.  We are endeavouring to obtain

        45       a better copy of that first page.  Have you read that

        46       document?

        47       A.   Yes, I have.
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         1

         2       Q.   The last line on the first page - I think there is a

         3       sentence missing - reads:

         4

         5            Gifts or donations of foodstuffs are

         6            considered by the sanctions committee to be

         7            consistent with the sanctions regime.

         8

         9       You will see that the author of this document - we believe,

        10       although not dated, this document dates from the end of

        11       1995 - has said that that Australia had given domestic

        12       legal effect to the sanctions through the Customs

        13       (Prohibited Exports) Regulations, and noted that the

        14       minister could deny permission if he or his delegate were

        15       of the view that the method of payment would not be

        16       compatible with Australia's obligation under the UNSCRs

        17       which imposed sanctions on Iraq.  Then the author went on

        18       to say:

        19

        20            In this regard we assess that our

        21            obligations under the domestic legislation

        22            would require us to ensure that in all

        23            future AWB applications to the UN Sanctions

        24            Committee the existence of third party

        25            payments should be made explicit.  We also

        26            believe that in order to acquit fully our

        27            obligations under the domestic legislation

        28            we need to ensure that AWB and any other

        29            commercial entity seeking to export

        30            humanitarian goods to Iraq reveals to DFAT

        31            sufficient information to enable us to

        32            ensure that such transactions do not

        33            involve the unfreezing of Iraqi assets or

        34            the repayment of the debt before the

        35            lifting of sanctions.

        36

        37       And then he went on:

        38

        39            We are also concerned to ensure that our

        40            reputation with the UN for frankness and

        41            transparency is maintained.  We believe

        42            that a failure by DFAT to ensure that

        43            applications put forward by us comply fully

        44            in all respects with the relevant

        45            Resolutions...

        46

        47       And that otherwise the standing of the UN could be
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         1       jeopardised, and that the standing of individual committee

         2       members could be jeopardised, and it would also put at risk

         3       future applications.  That would seem to speak of an

         4       attitude by DFAT which was far more active in examination

         5       of proposals before they were submitted to the sanctions

         6       committee than the attitude reflected in your evidence

         7       about DFAT and its role as we see it explained in

         8       paragraphs 2(b) and (c); would you agree with that?

         9       A.   In the context of this particular issue that had

        10       arisen at the time, yes, I would agree.

        11

        12       Q.   When you say in the context of that issue, the

        13       fundamental proposition seemed to be advanced by the author

        14       of that memorandum, Mr Skelly, was that DFAT had an

        15       obligation to ensure that the AWB, and thereby Australia,

        16       adhere to the sanctions regime, and that, in that regard,

        17       it ought to be active to ensure that there were no

        18       arrangements not disclosed on the face of the documents

        19       indicating that there was a credit arrangement rather than

        20       a gift by a third party.  The basic principle would seem to

        21       be that there is an obligation on DFAT to ensure that AWB

        22       was complying with its obligations.  How is that obligation

        23       reflected in the process that you have set out in

        24       paragraphs 2(b) and (c)?

        25       A.   My understanding during the time of my posting in

        26       New York is that in checking to see that the information

        27       that the 661 committee had asked for in its pro forma

        28       application, in checking to see that that information had

        29       all been provided - that was the key to the DFAT role, that

        30       the application couldn't be forwarded - if some of the

        31       information that was asked for in that pro forma

        32       application wasn't apparent, then the application couldn't

        33       be forwarded.  I would assume that that information would

        34       cover some of the issues that you are referring to, but it

        35       should contain all relevant information.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that document, the ministerial

        38       submission - DFT.0013.0509.

        39

        40       EXHIBIT #544 MINISTERIAL SUBMISSION, BARCODED DFT.0013.0509

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go to DFT.0010.0012, this is a

        43       minute by Mr Bowker of 30 October 1995 reflecting an

        44       examination of the question of whether a gift of wheat or

        45       of cash could be made by BHP without infringing UN

        46       resolutions.  In paragraph 2 Mr Bowker says:

        47
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         1            The obligation on DFAT to exercise its duty

         2            of care would be met if we ensured that BHP

         3            was aware of the requirements of the

         4            sanctions committee resolutions, and if we

         5            were satisfied that the gift was for

         6            humanitarian purposes.

         7

         8       So you will observe that Mr Bowker speaks of the exercise

         9       of a duty of care which involves DFAT in undertaking some

        10       form of independent assessment.  Would you say that during

        11       your period at the UN Mission there was no obligation on

        12       DFAT to exercise a duty of care to the extent of

        13       undertaking some independent assessment?

        14       A.   Could you - an independent assessment of --

        15

        16       Q.   Of what the arrangement truly was that was referred to

        17       in the contract documents.

        18       A.   My understanding during the time of my posting,

        19       although I would hesitate to speak for what was done by

        20       DFAT Canberra, because I was - I didn't work from that end

        21       of the process, but my understanding is that they didn't

        22       conduct an independent assessment of the contracts

        23       received.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you believe that, under the processes as you

        26       understood them, DFAT in Canberra ought to have conducted

        27       such an independent review?

        28       A.   No, I didn't - my understanding wasn't - I had no

        29       understanding that there was a requirement for an

        30       independent review of contracts.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   I tender Mr Bowker's minute, Mr Commissioner.

        33

        34       EXHIBIT #545 MINUTE DATED 30/10/1995 PREPARED BY MR BOWKER,

        35       BARCODED DFT.0010.0012

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 535,

        38       which is DFT.0010.0101.  This is a ministerial submission

        39       of Mark Pierce, the assistant secretary, Middle East and

        40       Africa branch, of 7 May 1996.  It is on the same issue.

        41       Relevantly, if we could go to the second page, at

        42       paragraph 12 Mr Pierce says:

        43

        44            In summary, if we put up to the UN

        45            sanctions committee documentation which

        46            accurately and fully reflected the terms of

        47            the deal we do not think it would be
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         1            approved.  We could not collude in

         2            presenting deliberately incomplete

         3            documentation (not specifying the period

         4            for the letter of credit, for instance).

         5            In addition, any suggestion that we were

         6            abetting a breach of sanctions would damage

         7            our standing, including for our Candidacy

         8            of the body, the UNSC, which regulates the

         9            application of the sanctions.

        10            We have already taken steps to tighten up

        11            the accountability requirements for wheat

        12            shipments to Iraq, in asking the AWB for:

        13            1.  Written confirmation that the shipments

        14            authorised had been dispatched, delivered

        15            and paid for strictly in accordance with

        16            the terms we had notified to the sanctions

        17            committee;

        18            2.  Consideration of amendments to the

        19            form, Permission to Export, to ensure that

        20            the conditions of sales were fully and

        21            accurately described;

        22            3.  Examination of the feasibility of

        23            approving the wheat sales shipment by

        24            shipment (rather than 100,000 tonnes at a

        25            time, as we currently do).

        26

        27       Now, that again is reflective of an active review being

        28       undertaken by DFAT to the point where DFAT has requested

        29       certain actions by AWB and attached conditions to the

        30       granting of the permission to export, which would seem to

        31       stand in distinction to the process that you have explained

        32       in your second statutory declaration.  Do you agree with

        33       that?

        34       A.   Yes.  I would.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you have any knowledge of how it came to be that

        37       whereas in 1996 DFAT was taking an active role tightening

        38       up the accountability requirements for wheat shipments, by

        39       1999, and during the period when you were at the UN Mission

        40       in New York, it seems to have abandoned that active role?

        41       A.   I don't know whether I would say the role had been

        42       abandoned.  I would say in the context of the particular

        43       issues that arose at the time of this submission, some

        44       issues were examined and some systems were put in place for

        45       the needs of that issue.  I think what processes were

        46       maintained would have depended on the type of contract and

        47       the type of issues that arose thereafter.  I don't think
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         1       processes would have been abandoned.

         2

         3       Q.   The third point there was the examination of the

         4       feasibility of approving the wheat sales shipment by

         5       shipment.  That was a process that indeed was adopted and

         6       maintained thereafter, as we can see by reference to some

         7       of the approval or the permission notes.  I will just turn

         8       one up.  I am just trying to identify an example that we

         9       could use.  Within the three volumes of contract documents

        10       that I tendered this morning there is to be found this

        11       document - AWB.0046.0043.  This is a permission to export

        12       dated 8 March 2000.  It was one provided or given by

        13       Graham Bowker.  If we go to the first paragraph you will

        14       see that he says that he hereby gives permission, pursuant

        15       to the relevant regulation, for export from Australia to

        16       Iraq of the goods specified in Part 1, subject to the

        17       conditions specified in Part 2 for the reasons specified in

        18       Part 3.  If you go to the schedules, you will see that

        19       Part 1 relates to only one shipment, and Part 2 specifies a

        20       condition.  The only condition recorded - to my

        21       recollection, this is the only condition recorded on any of

        22       the permissions to export - is one that the permission may

        23       be revoked by the Minister for Foreign Affairs or his

        24       delegate at any time without notice, and the reasons for

        25       the granting of the permission are recorded in Part 3:

        26

        27            This permission is granted because the

        28            exportation from Australia of the goods

        29            destined to Iraq specified in Part 1 of

        30            this schedule does not infringe UN Security

        31            Council sanctions against Iraq.

        32

        33       So we can see in this document, Ms Moules, that the third

        34       accountability requirement referred to in the earlier

        35       minute has been incorporated into the permission to export

        36       form, so that permissions to export were now only being

        37       issued in relation to particular shipments.  Do you agree

        38       with that?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You will see that the permission to export form

        42       relevantly contained a process or reflected a process

        43       whereby conditions could be imposed upon the grant of

        44       permission, so, if necessary, would you agree, DFAT might

        45       have required AWB to provide a written agreement or a

        46       written acknowledgment that the contract documents that it

        47       forwarded to the UN represented the whole of the contract
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         1       terms.

         2       A.   Yes, as a matter of possibility, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   So there was provision within the form for the

         5       recording of conditions such as that, was there not?

         6       A.   I assume so.

         7

         8       Q.   Would you agree that this form, this permission to

         9       export form that you can see on the screen, is typical of

        10       the permission to export forms that you saw for shipments

        11       of wheat pursuant to AWB contracts?

        12       A.   This is the first permission to export form I have

        13       seen myself, so I could only speculate as to whether it is

        14       typical of those forms.

        15

        16       Q.   You did not see them during the course of your work at

        17       the UN Mission?

        18       A.   No, I did not, no.

        19

        20       Q.   You were not forwarded a copy to be kept on file, or

        21       anything of that nature?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   You spoke earlier of a document that accompanies, in

        25       the usual course, the United Nations approval.  Again

        26       within volume 1 of the three volumes that I tendered this

        27       morning I wonder if we could bring up a United Nations

        28       approval.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0058.0061.  Was

        29       that typical of the approval forms that you saw?

        30       A.   Yes, it is.

        31

        32       Q.   And if we go to the next page, 0063, is this typical

        33       of the additional report that you received from the 661

        34       committee?

        35       A.   Yes, it appears typical.

        36

        37       Q.   It records about a third of the way down:

        38

        39            Specifically this application has been

        40            examined to establish whether the price and

        41            value is credible and whether the items to

        42            be exported are in the distribution plan

        43            annexes.  Additionally, the application has

        44            been examined to determine whether all

        45            relevant details have been submitted with

        46            the application.

        47
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         1       So every time the UN forwarded an approval such as the one

         2       you have just seen, you would receive a document such as

         3       this?

         4       A.   Yes - my recollection is that came with the approval

         5       letter.

         6

         7       Q.   And did that give you some comfort that the

         8       documentation that was being submitted to the United

         9       Nations was sufficient for its purposes?

        10       A.   I'm not sure whether I would say we drew comfort from

        11       it, but I would say that once we received this we knew

        12       that - well, we knew that if we didn't receive this, there

        13       would have been - questions would have been asked, we would

        14       have been asked for more information.  So that, having

        15       received it, the Office of the Iraq Program and the

        16       sanctions committee were satisfied that they had all

        17       relevant material, so yes, we were --

        18

        19       Q.   Well, did you accept that this document meant what it

        20       said - that the application had been examined to establish

        21       whether the price and value was credible?

        22       A.   Yes, we accepted that.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Pricing is also addressed further down

        25       on the document.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And then under the heading "Pricing":

        28

        29            The item price and value have been examined

        30            as per paragraph 33 of the Procedures and

        31            appear reasonable and acceptable.

        32

        33       So all of that is material which you say was taken into

        34       account?

        35       A.   I am sorry, was taken into account by?

        36

        37       Q.   By DFAT?

        38       A.   Yes, before it issued the permission to export.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you know what paragraph 33 of the

        41       procedures says?

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   I am not able to turn that up immediately,

        44       Mr Commissioner, but we will have that made available if we

        45       have it.  I won't separately tender those two documents,

        46       Mr Commissioner, but I just record on the transcript their

        47       place within the three volumes.  They will appear in the
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         1       public version of those documents - AWB.0058.0061 and 0063.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That is part of confidential

         4       exhibit 216C.

         5

         6       Q.   At the foot of that document, Ms Moules, it says "Date

         7       of Customs Officer's Report:  17/11/99".  Did you at the

         8       Mission ever receive the Customs officer's report as well,

         9       do you recall?

        10       A.   No, we only received this report at the time the

        11       approval notice came through, Commissioner.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could I take you back to exhibit 535 -

        14       DFT.0010.0101 - at page 0103, paragraph 15.  This was in a

        15       document dated 7 May 1996:

        16

        17            We have consulted ILD, which notes that the

        18            proposed transaction is not --

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Paragraph 15, did you say?

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Paragraph 15.  It is the second-last

        23       paragraph on that page.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.

        28

        29            We have consulted ILD, which notes that the

        30            proposed transaction is not categorically

        31            prohibited by the wording of the sanctions

        32            resolutions, but understands that the

        33            transaction does not conform with the

        34            likely judgments of the sanctions committee

        35            itself.  That committee has made it clear

        36            that the responsibility for determining

        37            whether a given transaction complies with

        38            the sanctions regime lies with the

        39            exporting countries but that the Security

        40            Council reserves the right to disapprove of

        41            transactions.  ILD comments further that,

        42            in light of our UNSC candidacy, it

        43            considers that we should avoid a situation

        44            of putting forward a transaction which, if

        45            details are provided or required, could be

        46            regarded by the sanctions committee as

        47            being in breach of the UNSC sanctions
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         1            regime.

         2

         3       That memo would seem to make plain an acknowledgment within

         4       DFAT in May of 1996 that the responsibility for determining

         5       whether a transaction complied with the sanctions regime

         6       lay with, in this case, Australia.  Was that as you

         7       understood the situation whilst you were at the UN Mission?

         8       A.   It does to the extent that we would not have put

         9       forward an application if we had any concerns about any

        10       aspect of it or if we knew that an aspect of it were

        11       inconsistent with the sanctions regime.

        12

        13       Q.   But you would say, at least to the extent that you

        14       understood the practice of DFAT at that time, it did not

        15       extend to DFAT digging into material behind the contracts

        16       unless it was aware of information that indicated that it

        17       ought to?

        18       A.   I would - yes, I would say unless it was aware of

        19       information that it ought to.  If the contract appeared to

        20       be something relatively straightforward and there appeared

        21       to be no grounds for digging into it, then my understanding

        22       is that we wouldn't have.  In this particular instance I

        23       can see why there would have been - there was a complexity

        24       here that needed to be explored, but as - if there appeared

        25       to be a standard contract which conformed to a pattern of

        26       contracts that had been submitted before, and in the

        27       absence of any other information or any reason to query it,

        28       then I would say an additional independent examination

        29       wasn't done, because there wouldn't have been a need to do

        30       so.  But were there any questions regarding any aspect of

        31       it or any queries or anything that appeared to be

        32       potentially inconsistent with sanctions, then, yes, that

        33       examination would have been done before Australia or the

        34       Australian Mission would have submitted the application to

        35       the UN.

        36

        37       Q.   In '95/'96 it appears that DFAT was on notice of a

        38       possibility that wheat might be provided to Iraq in

        39       circumstances where DFAT and the UN might be told that this

        40       was a provision of wheat where the arrangement was cash to

        41       be provided by third parties, but where the real

        42       arrangement was one where the wheat was provided under the

        43       cover of a letter of credit for deferred payment.  Against

        44       that background, DFAT instituted the regime that we have

        45       seen in those minutes.  Is it in that context that you say,

        46       where DFAT might be on notice, that it would dig deeper?

        47       A.   Yes, if there appeared to be a reason to.
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         1

         2       Q.   Whilst you were in the Australian Mission at the UN,

         3       you received, as we have seen, information from what was

         4       then an undisclosed third party concerning suspect activity

         5       by AWB.

         6       A.   That's correct.

         7

         8       Q.   Did that put you on notice or give you cause to

         9       believe that DFAT ought to be digging deeper into the AWB

        10       contracts?

        11       A.   Yes, it did.

        12

        13       Q.   What did you do about that?

        14       A.   I reported - I didn't dig deeper in New York, there

        15       wasn't really scope for me to do so from there, but

        16       Canberra looked into the matter.

        17

        18       Q.   So your role in responding to the concern that you had

        19       was to send the cable to Canberra; is that right?

        20       A.   That's right.

        21

        22       Q.   In effect, to initiate the inquiry within DFAT?

        23       A.   That's right.

        24

        25       Q.   Do you say that, positioned where you were in the

        26       Australian Mission at the UN, you were not in a position to

        27       do the digging yourself?

        28       A.   No, my understanding was we needed more information

        29       from AWB, and that that was information that I thought was

        30       best handled by DFAT headquarters with AWB headquarters,

        31       rather than the AWB New York office.

        32

        33       Q.   Now, we have your first cable, and I believe it is

        34       exhibit 456.  I have it at DFT.0001.0179.  Do you recognise

        35       that as a copy of the first cable that you sent in relation

        36       to this matter?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   If we go to the next page, 0180, you record:

        40

        41            The OIP noted it had no way of judging the

        42            accuracy or otherwise of the claims.

        43

        44       You go on to say:

        45

        46            However, given the highly irregular nature

        47            of the transactions cited, and the
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         1            possibility of a company's agreeing to a

         2            payment system and being unaware of its

         3            irregularity, the OIP asked if Australia

         4            could make some discreet, high-level

         5            inquiries to ensure that the AWB is not

         6            inadvertently involved in any payment

         7            scheme which might be in breach of the Iraq

         8            sanctions regime.

         9

        10       Did the OIP express to you how it was that it regarded

        11       itself as having no way of judging the accuracy of the

        12       claims?

        13       A.   As far as I recall, it presented the information in

        14       those cautious terms because it had no evidence.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you know whether or not, from anything the OIP told

        17       you, it had undertaken any examination of AWB contracts to

        18       see whether, from its examination, it appeared that the

        19       contract prices had been inflated?

        20       A.   They didn't indicate whether they had done that or

        21       not.

        22

        23       Q.   You say:

        24

        25            ...the OIP asked if Australia could make

        26            some discreet, high-level inquiries...

        27

        28       Were they the terms of the request, "Discreet, high-level

        29       inquiries"?

        30       A.   As far as I recall, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you understand by that that inquiries were to be

        33       made at the OIP's request at a high level within AWB?

        34       A.   That was my understanding.

        35

        36       Q.   And may we take it that the suspicion of the OIP as

        37       expressed to you was no higher at that stage than that the

        38       AWB was inadvertently involved in the payment scheme,

        39       rather than deliberately?

        40       A.   It is difficult for me to say what the OIP thought or

        41       suspected, but in presenting the information to me, I do

        42       recall they were careful about the terms in which they

        43       presented it, because they said themselves they had no

        44       evidence.  So they stopped - they wanted to stop short of

        45       making an accusation.  What they thought about it, I don't

        46       know.

        47
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         1       Q.   Can I ask you to look further down this cable, and

         2       perhaps you can give us some help in interpreting it.  The

         3       date is readily enough definable - 13/1/2000.  Then "CM",

         4       and your name appears.  The initials "CM" indicate that you

         5       were the author of the cable?

         6       A.   Yes - that's my understanding of the cable

         7       distribution system.

         8

         9       Q.   "RC", and your name appears again.  How do we

        10       understand that?

        11       A.   I don't understand what the technicalities behind that

        12       were, that was something done by the communications centre.

        13

        14       Q.   When you drew up this cable, did you determine who was

        15       to receive it?

        16       A.   No, I did not.

        17

        18       Q.   And so where we see "FA", which I read as "for

        19       action", and then four names, those four names were not

        20       recorded as being responsible for action at your

        21       instigation?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   Who, at that time, determined that this cable should

        25       go to those four people for action?

        26       A.   At that time the distribution of cables was handled by

        27       communication analysts at DFAT Canberra.  They had a system

        28       for determining, based on the topic, the subject matter of

        29       cables, where they would go, and the author of the cable at

        30       that time wasn't involved in that process; it was a

        31       communication analyst's job.

        32

        33       Q.   So who, then, did you send this cable to?  If we go to

        34       the first page, 0179, it simply says "To. PP Canberra".

        35       You will see under the UN number, 8311, then 1638 and then

        36       the date, it is recorded as "To. PP Canberra".  So far as

        37       you were concerned, you were simply sending this to the

        38       DFAT office in Canberra, were you?

        39       A.   That's correct.

        40

        41       Q.   And then an analyst in Canberra would read it, assess

        42       it and determine who ought to receive it?

        43       A.   That's correct.

        44

        45       Q.   And this would be an analyst in the DFAT office in

        46       Canberra?

        47       A.   That's right.
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         1

         2       Q.   As a matter of practice, do you know whether or not,

         3       if a cable is so directed - as we see in this cable on the

         4       second page - for action to Mr P Shannon, the cable would

         5       necessarily find its way to Mr P Shannon?

         6       A.   My understanding is that it would have.

         7

         8       Q.   And the same with Ms Drake Brockman, Ms Mercer and

         9       Mr Ferguson?

        10       A.   That's right.  My understanding is that would have

        11       found its way, either electronically or in hard copy, to

        12       the addressees.

        13

        14       Q.   Do I correctly understand "FA" to be "for action"?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   And do I correctly understand "FI" to be "for

        18       information"?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Given the circumstances in which you received this

        22       information, Ms Moules, was there anything more you could

        23       have done other than to set the information out in this

        24       cable and send it to Canberra?

        25       A.   I don't believe so.

        26

        27       Q.   Then we had a reply from Mr Bowker, if we could bring

        28       up exhibit 457 - DFT.0001.0177.  May we take it that prior

        29       to receiving this cable you would not, in the ordinary

        30       course, have been aware as to how the matter was being

        31       dealt with by Canberra?

        32       A.   That's right.

        33

        34       Q.   Would you have understood that this cable was being

        35       sent to the Australian Mission in New York for information?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   The next document that we have is one dated 10 March

        39       2000, exhibit 458 - DFT.0001.0171.  This is a cable from

        40       you when the matter has come back to you.  If I could take

        41       you to the second and third paragraphs, it seems that the

        42       OIP was raising two distinct issues, one which it had

        43       raised in January - "Johnston noted that the third country

        44       which claims it has failed to secure contracts with the

        45       Iraqi Grain Board on the grounds that it is not prepared to

        46       enter into contracts involving irregular payment methods

        47       (methods which, it claims, the AWB has been involved in)
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         1       remained concerned about the matter."  So that seems to be

         2       raising the complaint that was made in January all over

         3       again.  And then in the paragraph numbered 3 there seems to

         4       be an additional point that is raised, which you describe

         5       as an additional point, and this concerns whether or not

         6       there were additional conditions attached to the contract

         7       and the reference to standard terms and conditions.  Is

         8       that the way you understood the issues in March of 2000?

         9       A.   Yes.  I understood that the first point was a

        10       reiteration of the concerns of January, and the second

        11       point was an additional point, but which was raised in the

        12       context of the original complaint, but which hadn't been

        13       mentioned to me previously.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you meet with the Austrade Commissioner,

        16       Mr Nicholas, and did he provide you with the information

        17       that we see recorded in this cable?

        18       A.   As far as I can recall, he telephoned me.

        19

        20       Q.   And provided you with the information that's in the

        21       cable?

        22       A.   That's right.

        23

        24       Q.   And do you say that the information as recorded

        25       faithfully records what he said to you?

        26       A.   Yes, to the best of my recollection.

        27

        28       Q.   If we go to paragraph 5 of this cable, you say:

        29

        30            Nicholas had a meeting on 9 March with

        31            visiting AWB Ltd Chairman (Flugge) and AWB

        32            LTD New York office Vice Chairman

        33            (Snowball), (the meeting having been

        34            arranged prior to Austrade's meeting with

        35            OIP).

        36

        37       May we take it that all of that information came from

        38       Mr Nicholas?

        39       A.   That's right.

        40

        41       Q.  :

        42

        43            At the 9 March meeting, Nicholas took the

        44            opportunity to advise the AWB of the

        45            information which OIP had drawn to his

        46            attention.

        47
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         1       Now, you don't in that sentence set out the detail of that

         2       information.  You have recorded it earlier in your cable,

         3       but you don't set it all out again.  When Mr Nicholas told

         4       you that he took the opportunity to advise the AWB of the

         5       information which the OIP had drawn to his attention, did

         6       Mr Nicholas tell you that he had repeated the information

         7       that he had given to you to the AWB?

         8       A.   I don't recall exactly what he said.  As I recall, he

         9       explained to me what the OIP had told him, and that's what

        10       I have recorded in the cable, and then he also advised me

        11       that he had passed on this information to AWB.  I don't

        12       recall if he told me the terms - the precise terms in which

        13       he spoke to AWB.

        14

        15       Q.   But are you satisfied that paragraph 5 records the

        16       substance of what Mr Nicholas said to you of his meeting

        17       with the AWB?

        18       A.   Yes, to the best of my recollection.

        19

        20       Q.   Could we go to exhibit 124 - DFT.0001.0438.  This is a

        21       fax to you from Mr Snowball, enclosing the standard

        22       contract terms and conditions.  Then if we go to

        23       exhibit 488, which is 0001.0009, this is your cable to

        24       Canberra advising that you had received the standard terms

        25       and conditions and that, as agreed by AWB, you had provided

        26       a copy of them to the Office of the Iraq Program.  May we

        27       take it that you did in fact pass those on to the Office of

        28       the Iraq Program?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And we have a fax with a confirmation as exhibit 489,

        32       which I won't take you to, confirming that.  I want to go

        33       now to some internal emails at the United Nations which

        34       appear to predate much of this complaint.  Could we bring

        35       up, please, UNO.0006.0030.  This is a note to Mr Sevan of

        36       21 December 1999.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document, Mr Commissioner.

        39

        40       EXHIBIT #546 NOTE TO MR SEVAN DATED 21/12/1999,

        41       BARCODED UNO.0006.0030

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up UNO.0006.0037.  This is

        44       a note from Felicity Johnston to Mr Almstrom, the chief

        45       contracts processing officer, indicating some more detail

        46       of the complaint.  Do you see the third paragraph of the

        47       note:



            .14/3/06 (45)              4480     B N MOULES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2            OC 4988 was issued 5 January 2000 in

         3            relation to an Australian Wheat Board

         4            contract for 25,000 metric tons of wheat.

         5            If the same "transport costs" are applied

         6            to this contract, the Grain Board of Iraq

         7            will benefit by $350,000.  There is no

         8            evidence of any irregular financial

         9            activity in the contract associated with

        10            this application.

        11

        12       Were you given that information by Ms Johnston?

        13       A.   No, I was not.

        14

        15       Q.   The next paragraph, does that accord with your

        16       recollection of what Ms Johnston did say to you?

        17       A.   Yes, it does.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that document, Mr Commissioner.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #547 LETTER TO MR ALMSTROM FROM MS JOHNSTON,

        22       DATED 13/1/2000, BARCODED UNO.0006.0037

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Then we have UNO.0006.0029.  This would appear

        25       to be a note from Mr Almstrom to a person named Farid,

        26       dated 7 February 2000, which refers to some other agreement

        27       which is referred to in but not included in the Australian

        28       wheat contract.  That now completes the documentation that

        29       we have in relation to what we have referred to as the

        30       Canadian complaint, Mr Commissioner.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will mark that last document

        33       exhibit 548.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #548 NOTE FROM MR ALMSTROM TO FARID,

        36       DATED 7/2/2000, BARCODED UNO.0006.0029

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, I asked you if you knew what

        39       was in clause 33.  My research assistant has produced a

        40       document from the security council dated 12 August 1996

        41       with attached procedures, and those clauses appear to be in

        42       that.  You might like to consider that overnight.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Moules, did you ever become aware

        45       during your period at the UN Mission in New York that the

        46       AWB Limited was paying any money at all to any entity of

        47       the Iraqi regime in connection with these wheat contracts?
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         1       A.   No, apart from some information they provided me in

         2       the context of inquiring about port fees.

         3

         4       Q.   You have dealt with the port fees matter in your

         5       statutory declarations, and we have most of the documents

         6       already tendered as exhibits.  This was a complaint by AWB

         7       that the Iraqis were pressuring AWB to pay a 50 cent per

         8       metric tonne port fee, which was a complaint that was taken

         9       up with you?

        10       A.   That's right.

        11

        12       Q.   And which was followed up?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   And which at that stage ended with the Iraqis

        16       relenting, so far as you were aware?

        17       A.   That's right.

        18

        19       Q.   Leaving that matter aside, because on the documents

        20       that were available at the time that you were involved in

        21       that matter no port fees were paid in respect of that

        22       request.

        23       A.   That's right.

        24

        25       Q.   Leaving that aside, were you aware of any information

        26       or intelligence that suggested that AWB was in fact paying

        27       money to any Iraqi entity in connection with its contracts

        28       for the sale of wheat to Iraq under the Oil-for-Food

        29       Program?

        30       A.   No, I was not.

        31

        32       Q.   Were you at any time aware that AWB was paying money

        33       to a company known as Alia, or Alia for Transportation and

        34       General Trade, in connection with its contracts to supply

        35       wheat to the Iraqis?

        36       A.   No, I was not.

        37

        38       Q.   Were you aware of the existence of a company called

        39       Alia for Transportation and General Trade?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   I take it, then, it would follow, of course, that you

        43       were not aware of any interest - that is, any ownership or

        44       shareholding - that any Iraqi entity held in such a

        45       company?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   We know that there were four contracts which referred

         2       to an obligation on AWB to pay discharge costs of up to

         3       US$12 a metric tonne.  Those four contracts were dated

         4       respectively 14 July for three of them, and I think

         5       14 October - certainly a date in October - for the fourth.

         6       They were contracts that were processed in the way in which

         7       your statutory declaration indicates.  They were sent to

         8       the DFAT office in Canberra and then sent on to the Mission

         9       and then passed by the Mission on to the 661 committee.

        10       Each of them contained a term that reflected a

        11       responsibility for AWB to pay discharge costs of up to

        12       US$12 a metric tonne.  That clause never again appeared in

        13       any other contract for the sale of wheat between AWB

        14       Limited and Iraq or the IGB - the Iraqi Grain Board.  Can

        15       you recall whether the fact that that clause appeared in no

        16       contracts after October of 1999 raised any matter of

        17       interest so far as the UN Mission in New York was

        18       concerned?

        19       A.   I don't recall it raised any interest.

        20

        21       Q.   I want to show you a volume which contains 15

        22       documents produced by the Australian Intelligence

        23       Community.  Do you understand that, in relation to these

        24       documents, in the course of answering any questions that

        25       I ask you you are not permitted to disclose the content of

        26       the document or its source.  This is the copy of the volume

        27       that I tendered earlier, Mr Commissioner, with 15 divider

        28       cards.  I wonder if you would look through each of those

        29       documents and tell me whether, prior to the preparation of

        30       your statutory declarations for this inquiry, you had ever

        31       seen any one of those documents or whether you had ever

        32       become privy to any of the information disclosed in any one

        33       of those documents.

        34       A.   The first document I have never seen - would you like

        35       me to work through them one by one?

        36

        37       Q.   Yes.

        38       A.   The first document I have not seen, I have no

        39       recollection of seeing.

        40

        41       Q.   Without disclosing the content of that document, are

        42       you able to indicate whether you were ever privy to the

        43       information disclosed in that document?

        44       A.   Not specifically, no.

        45

        46       Q.   Would you go to the next document.  When you say "not

        47       specifically", what do you mean by that?
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         1       A.   In very broad terms, I was aware that --

         2

         3       Q.   You are not permitted to disclose the content of the

         4       document.

         5       A.   I realise that, yes.  I realise that.  In very broad

         6       terms I'm aware of some of this type of issue being an

         7       issue in the sanctions committee - in very broad terms.

         8

         9       Q.   Of being an issue that the sanctions committee looked

        10       at?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   In very broad terms?

        14       A.   In very broad terms.

        15

        16       Q.   In relation to AWB Limited?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   In relation to the company Alia?

        20       A.   No.

        21

        22       Q.   Would you look at the second document.

        23       A.   I have not seen this document before.

        24

        25       Q.   Were you aware of the contents of that document?

        26       A.   Document 2?

        27

        28       Q.   Yes.

        29       A.   No - no, not specifically at all.

        30

        31       Q.   When you say "not specifically", I will ask you

        32       again - what do you mean by that?

        33       A.   Again, I was aware through issues that were being

        34       considered in the sanctions committee of issues very

        35       broadly related to some of the general subject matter of

        36       this.

        37

        38       Q.   So issues that the sanctions committee looked at?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   In broad terms?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   I will ask you again:  in relation to AWB Limited?

        45       A.   No.

        46

        47       Q.   In relation to the company Alia?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   And you know when I am referring to Alia, I am not

         4       using its full name?

         5       A.   (Witness nods).

         6

         7       Q.   The third document - have you seen that document

         8       before?

         9       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document

        10       before.

        11

        12       Q.   And were you aware of the contents of it, or the

        13       substance of it?

        14       A.   No.

        15

        16       Q.   The fourth document?

        17       A.   No.  I have no recollection of seeing this document

        18       either.

        19

        20       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of that

        21       document?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   The fifth document?

        25       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

        26

        27       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of the

        28       document?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   The sixth document - had you seen that document

        32       before?

        33       A.   Sorry, I should say on document 5, again, in very

        34       broad terms, some of the - in a very broad sense, one of

        35       the issues referred to there was something that, again,

        36       I was aware of from debriefings about security council

        37       committee work - that there were some issues there.

        38

        39       Q.   Were you aware of those broad issues in connection

        40       with AWB Limited?

        41       A.   No.  No, not at all.

        42

        43       Q.   Were you aware of those broad issues in connection

        44       with the company Alia?

        45       A.   No.

        46

        47       Q.   The sixth document - have you seen that document
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         1       before?

         2       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

         3

         4       Q.   What about the content and substance of the document -

         5       were you aware of that whilst you were attached to the

         6       Australian UN Mission in New York?

         7       A.   Yes - some aspects of it, again, relate to broader

         8       issues that --

         9

        10       Q.   Were you aware of those broader issues in the same

        11       context that you have told us about - as matters the

        12       subject of --

        13       A.   That's right.

        14

        15       Q.   -- discussion at the sanctions committee?

        16       A.   That's right.

        17

        18       Q.   Were you aware of them in connection with the AWB

        19       Limited?

        20       A.   Only to the extent that I've already covered in my

        21       evidence.

        22

        23       Q.   Were you aware of them in connection with Alia?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   The seventh document - have you seen that document

        27       before?

        28       A.   No.  I have no recollection of seeing this document.

        29

        30       Q.   Were you aware of the contents of it or the substance

        31       of it?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   The eighth document - have you seen that document

        35       before?

        36       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

        37

        38       Q.   Were you aware of the contents of it or the substance

        39       of it?

        40       A.   Again, not specifically, but there are some references

        41       which were issues that were, again, discussed in general

        42       terms in the context of the operation of the Oil-for-Food

        43       Program.

        44

        45       Q.   Were you aware of those issues being discussed in

        46       connection with AWB Limited?

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       Q.   Or in connection with Alia?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   The ninth document - have you seen that document

         6       before?

         7       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

         8

         9       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of this

        10       document?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   The tenth document - have you seen that document

        14       before?

        15       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

        16

        17       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of it?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   The eleventh document - have you seen that document

        21       before?

        22       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

        23

        24       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of this

        25       document?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   The twelfth document - have you seen that document

        29       before?

        30       A.   No, I haven't seen this document before.

        31

        32       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of that

        33       document?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   The next document, which should be document 13 - have

        37       you seen that document before?

        38       A.   No, I haven't seen this document.

        39

        40       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of that

        41       document?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   Document 14 - have you seen that document before?

        45       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

        46

        47       Q.   Were you aware of the contents or substance of that
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         1       document?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   And document 15 - have you seen that document before?

         5       A.   No, I have no recollection of seeing this document.

         6

         7       Q.   And were you aware of the contents or substance of

         8       that document?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   I wonder if we could bring up, please, part of

        12       confidential exhibit 23C, which was tendered on 5 January.

        13       It is AWB.0058.0414.  This is an AWB Limited Australian

        14       wheat CIF contract number A4653, dated Melbourne, 14 July

        15       1999.  This is one of the four contracts about which I was

        16       asking you a little earlier.  I just draw your attention to

        17       the subheading "Shipment":

        18

        19            To be shipped during [a certain period]

        20            subject to receipt of appropriate U.N.

        21            approval.

        22

        23       And then the third paragraph:

        24

        25            The cargo will be discharged Free into

        26            Truck to all silos within all Governorates

        27            of Iraq at the average rate of [so many]

        28            metric tons...the discharge cost will be a

        29            maximum of USD12.00 and shall be paid by

        30            Sellers to the nominated Maritime Agents in

        31            Iraq.  This clause is subject to UN

        32            approval of the Iraq distribution plan.

        33

        34       Would this have been one of the contracts that you passed

        35       through to the 661 committee for approval?

        36       A.   Yes, I believe so.

        37

        38       Q.   At the time that you passed it through to the 661

        39       committee, did you give any thought as to how it might be

        40       that the AWB Limited could pay US$12 as a discharge cost to

        41       nominated maritime agents in Iraq without breaching the UN

        42       sanctions?

        43       A.   I don't recall specifically considering that in the UN

        44       Mission, no.

        45

        46       Q.   Do you recall having any discussion on that topic with

        47       any members of the sanctions committee?



            .14/3/06 (45)              4488     B N MOULES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   Or with any representative of the sanctions committee?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   We know that this was a contract, one of four, which

         7       contained such a term which was approved by the United

         8       Nations sanctions committee - the 661 committee.  Do you

         9       know anything of the circumstances in which the 661

        10       committee came to approve those four contracts containing

        11       this term?

        12       A.   No, I don't know the circumstances of the security

        13       council committee's consideration.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   That's the examination of Ms Moules to this

        16       point in time, Mr Commissioner.  There may be applications

        17       to cross-examine Ms Moules.  In any event, we are not in a

        18       position to either indicate that we have completed our

        19       examination of Ms Moules or that we would not require her

        20       back.  We are still awaiting confirmation from DFAT as to

        21       the nature and extent and completion, we expect, of its

        22       search for all relevant documents, and we expect to have

        23       that some time during the course of this week.  At least

        24       until I have that I can't ask for this witness to be

        25       excused, although I am not given to believe that there is

        26       much prospect that we will have any other documents, but we

        27       would still like to have that confirmation.  We would ask

        28       that if there are to be any applications to examine this

        29       witness, the applications be made now and that the

        30       examinations continue now, against the very likely prospect

        31       that we will not require the witness back.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robertson, you didn't seek specific

        34       authority to appear for Ms Moules.  Do you do so or not?

        35

        36       MR ROBERTSON:   I do appear for her, Mr Commissioner, as an

        37       officer of DFAT.  So she comes within the general

        38       description.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well then I shall grant to you and

        41       Mr Neil and those instructing you authority to appear for

        42       all the DFAT employees.

        43

        44       MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you have any questions for

        47       Ms Moules?
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         1

         2       MR ROBERTSON:   No, I don't.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   I have a few, if I may be permitted, sir.

         7

         8       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   Ms Moules, we appear on behalf of AWB Limited

        11       and AWBI.  In order to expedite matters, Commissioner,

        12       there are a couple of documents that I want to take the

        13       witness to and it may be that my friend can assist by

        14       identifying a reference number while I ask Ms Moules a

        15       couple of other questions.  The first is a facsimile from

        16       the Australian Mission to DFAT, dated 14 October 1999.  It

        17       is a seven-page facsimile.  The next is a facsimile of

        18       29 October 1999, from Mr Borlase to a Deb Watson at DFAT.

        19       It is a seven-page facsimile.  It may save some time if

        20       they can be sourced and I can deal with something else.

        21

        22       Q.   Ms Moules, can I be bold enough to ask you some

        23       questions about the debriefing sessions from the sanctions

        24       committee.  Can you explain how the debriefings, as you

        25       described them, from the sanctions committee, or the

        26       security council committee, I think, as you described it,

        27       took place?

        28       A.   Yes, I can.  The security council committee meetings

        29       themselves were closed to non-security council members, but

        30       they took place in a room in the United Nations and that

        31       room was advertised in the UN journal - there was a daily

        32       journal of meetings - and if the security council sanctions

        33       committee chairman so decided, they would put in the

        34       journal that interested delegations may receive a briefing

        35       after the conclusion of the sanctions committee meeting.

        36       So interested delegations could go along and wait outside

        37       the room until the meeting finished, at which point the

        38       sanctions committee chair would have a further meeting to

        39       debrief interested UN members.

        40

        41       Q.   Were you advised in advance of these meetings of the

        42       subject matter or the agenda to be under consideration by

        43       the committee members at the closed meetings?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   So it was a matter of you attending perhaps on the

        47       offchance that there may be something relevant to your
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         1       mission that might emerge from the briefing?

         2       A.   That's right.

         3

         4       Q.   Was it your practice to attend such briefings on a

         5       regular basis?

         6       A.   I wouldn't say on a regular basis, and I don't recall

         7       if they were actually - if the option was there on a

         8       regular basis.  It was really within the gift of the chair.

         9       But no, I didn't personally attend on a regular basis.

        10       I attended periodically.

        11

        12       Q.   All right.  If you didn't attend, was it the practice

        13       of the Australian Mission to have a representative at such

        14       debriefings whenever the invitations extended?

        15       A.   No, it wasn't the practice.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you understand that these closed meetings of the

        18       security council dealt with such matters as contract

        19       approvals?

        20       A.   That was one of the issues I understand they looked

        21       at.

        22

        23       Q.   Can I ask you this - and I don't want to traverse or

        24       have you answer and disclose the prohibited information -

        25       did some of the debriefings concern compliance issues, for

        26       example; that is, compliance by vendors with sanction

        27       requirements imposed by the United Nations?

        28       A.   I don't recall that coming up in the debriefings, no.

        29

        30       Q.   Would you take notes of these meetings or provide a

        31       report back to Canberra on the meetings - on the

        32       debriefings, I am sorry?

        33       A.   I don't think I provided reports specifically on these

        34       meetings, but the information, if it was of particular

        35       interest or relevance, may have fed into other reports

        36       I was doing on Iraq and the Oil-for-Food Program.  There

        37       usually wasn't sufficient information for a separate

        38       report.

        39

        40       Q.   I wanted to ask you a little bit more generally about

        41       your relationship with the United Nations in New York.

        42       Apart from debriefing sessions with the security council

        43       committee, was there a regular exchange of information or

        44       was there a regular line of communication between the

        45       Australian Mission and the United Nations?

        46       A.   Yes.  There was - we had fairly regular contact with

        47       the Office of the Iraq Program, the UN secretariat, on an
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         1       as-needed basis, and we had fairly regular contact with

         2       other UN members and security council members.

         3

         4       Q.   So you had communication with individual security

         5       council members as well as the committee itself - is that

         6       the 661 committee?

         7       A.   That's right.  The 661 committee was made up of the

         8       security council members, though, so it was often the same

         9       people.

        10

        11       Q.   But if I can draw a distinction between the committee

        12       and the individual members, there was a line of

        13       communication you had or the Australian Mission had with

        14       the individual members as well as the committee as a body?

        15       A.   Yes, but it was often one and the same.

        16

        17       Q.   I see.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   When you speak of members, you are

        20       speaking of countries and their officers, are you?

        21       A.   That's right.

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   I was coming to that, sir.

        24

        25       Q.   Can we identify who it was as the point of contact for

        26       the individual members or member countries in the 661

        27       committee at the UN.  Who was your counterpart, if I can

        28       put it that way, as a point of communication at the United

        29       Nations with whom you engaged in as-needs communication?

        30       A.   With the secretariat, you are asking?

        31

        32       Q.   Yes.

        33       A.   That was within the Office of the Iraq Program, one of

        34       the customs officers.

        35

        36       Q.   All right.  Can you recall that person's name?

        37       A.   Felicity Johnston.

        38

        39       Q.   Thank you.  In relation to the individual member

        40       countries, did you have a person or a contact person with

        41       whom you could maintain a line of communication with each

        42       of the member countries?

        43       A.   Not one particular individual for each country.  It

        44       would - it varied a lot.  It really depended on the

        45       contacts that I had made, the Mission made, with other

        46       Missions.  So there were a number of people who we would

        47       talk to on different issues at different times.
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         1

         2       Q.   And what form or mode of communication did you have

         3       with Felicity Johnston?

         4       A.   Usually telephone, and some faxes.

         5

         6       Q.   Would you meet on occasions?

         7       A.   On occasion - infrequently.

         8

         9       Q.   If you had a telephone call with her, would you make a

        10       note of the call?

        11       A.   Generally, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   And you say there were occasional faxes?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Did your office in New York retain any written

        17       communications that you might have received from her, or

        18       copies of communications you might have sent to her?

        19       A.   Yes, they would have been filed, to the best of my

        20       understanding.

        21

        22       Q.   And they would be available, if required by this

        23       Commission?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Can I ask you on a separate point, can you say whether

        27       DFAT has a document management policy?

        28       A.   A document management policy?

        29

        30       Q.   Does it have a policy which is concerned with the

        31       archiving, storage, maintaining, destruction of documents,

        32       and the like?

        33       A.   Yes.  Yes, it does.

        34

        35       Q.   Are you familiar with the operation of that policy?

        36       A.   In broad terms, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   And have you been involved in the document recovery

        39       process undertaken in response to notices given to the

        40       department by this Commission?

        41       A.   No, I haven't been involved in that.

        42

        43       Q.   Do you know who has taken control of that process?

        44       A.   Of the document --

        45

        46       Q.   Document recovery?

        47       A.   I think it has been handled between the Iraq task
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         1       force and our legal branch.

         2

         3       Q.   I am sorry, you will have to speak up a little.

         4       A.   My understanding is - I haven't been directly

         5       involved - it has been handled by the Iraq task force and

         6       our legal branch.

         7

         8       Q.   And the Iraq task force is a person or a group of

         9       persons?

        10       A.   A group of people.

        11

        12       Q.   And they are?

        13       A.   You want the names of all the people?

        14

        15       Q.   Yes, please.

        16       A.   I don't know the names of all the people.  I can give

        17       you some of the names.

        18

        19       Q.   But there is a task force in the department known as

        20       the Iraq task force?

        21       A.   That's right.

        22

        23       Q.   And is that a task force which has existed as such for

        24       some time, or recently created?

        25       A.   No, it has existed for some time.

        26

        27       Q.   But apart from the Iraq task force, the document

        28       retrieval process has been undertaken by the legal

        29       department, did you say?

        30       A.   I understand they have provided some assistance.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   I wonder if my friend is able to help me with

        33       the first of the documents I mentioned of 14 October 1999.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  That's AWB.0058.0244 through to 0250.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   Q.   Ms Moules, I want to ask you just a few

        38       questions about this document.  You will see that it is a

        39       fax from you to a Ms Brodtmann at the Department of Foreign

        40       Affairs and Trade.  It attaches some copy notification of

        41       request to ship goods to Iraq forms with UN seals for the

        42       three most recent AWB applications.  Can I ask you this:

        43       what is meant by the "UN seals" there?

        44       A.   I think it is referring to the UN stamp.

        45

        46       Q.   And if we can look at the next document, which will be

        47       0245, can you tell me if the UN stamp, or UN seal, is found
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         1       on that particular document?

         2       A.   No, that has the UN Mission's stamp.

         3

         4       Q.   Yes.  Might it be that what is meant there by the

         5       reference "UN seal" in fact is the Australian Mission seal?

         6       A.   It is possible, yes.

         7

         8       Q.   And these are documents, of course, which have been

         9       sent by you from New York to a colleague at the Department

        10       of Foreign Affairs and Trade, and apparently to the AWB.

        11       Would that be a fair assumption?

        12       A.   That seems to be indicated on the covering fax.

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.  For what purpose would you be sending a document

        15       such as this back to the Wheat Board and to foreign

        16       affairs?

        17       A.   It seems to indicate on the fax cover that they

        18       requested us to do so on this occasion.  I don't know what

        19       the purpose was, but it is in response to a request for

        20       this information.

        21

        22       Q.   Ordinarily, these are the documents that are completed

        23       by DFAT in Canberra and sent to you with the contract

        24       documents; is that correct?

        25       A.   That's correct.  They are completed in DFAT Canberra

        26       or, at times, at the UN Mission, and together with the

        27       contract provided by the AWB.

        28

        29       Q.   If we could move across to the next document

        30       I mentioned, which is of 29 October 1999, you will recall

        31       my friend taking you to --

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just before you go on, Mr Judd, is that

        34       document an exhibit?

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   It is not.  Perhaps I should ask my friend to

        37       tender it.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  We will tender it - AWB.0058.0244, 0245,

        40       0247, 0248, 0246, 0249 and 0250.  Although those numbers

        41       that I have announced are not consecutive, by keeping them

        42       in that order we have the fax in the order in which the

        43       transmission line indicates the document was sent from

        44       pages 1 to 7.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  That will be exhibit 549.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #549 SEVEN-PAGE FAX, DATED 29/10/1999, BARCODED

         2       AWB.0058.0244, 0245, 0247, 0248, 0246, 0249 AND 0250

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   Q.   You recall the document my friend took you

         5       to on the screen for July and directed your attention to a

         6       particular clause that referred to the $12 amount?

         7       A.   (Witness nods).

         8

         9       Q.   Would you have had occasion to be provided with such

        10       material as the Iraqi tender document that was produced by

        11       the IGB and sent to AWB in about mid 1999 - is that the

        12       kind of document that you would have occasion to have as

        13       part of your responsibility?

        14       A.   My recollection is the only documentation we received

        15       from AWB was the contract that they submitted when they

        16       wanted to apply for approval to export.

        17

        18       Q.   So that was an application form that had been

        19       completed usually in Canberra?

        20       A.   Canberra or the UN Mission.

        21

        22       Q.   And that would be coupled with the contract documents

        23       and submitted to the UN?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   This is another example of a contract, if I can

        27       have it brought up.  It is dated 29 October 1999, a

        28       seven-page facsimile, from Mr Borlase to Deb Watson.  Have

        29       we been able to locate that?

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   It is DFT.0012.0128.  We also have it with an

        32       AWB number, for those who are looking for it.  It is

        33       AWB.0069.0045.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   Thank you very much.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Perhaps I should tender it now.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Thank you.

        40

        41       EXHIBIT #550 FACSIMILE FROM MR BORLASE TO MS WATSON,

        42       DATED 29/10/1999, BARCODED DFT.0012.0128, OR AWB.0069.0045

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Q.   I am not suggesting that you were the

        45       recipient, but you might be able to help initially by

        46       informing the Commission who is Deb Watson.

        47       A.   I don't know for sure.  I assume it is somebody who



            .14/3/06 (45)              4496     B N MOULES (Mr Judd)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       was working in the Middle East section.  The name is

         2       vaguely familiar.

         3

         4       Q.   You will see that the cover sheet refers to some

         5       enclosures.  Perhaps I can direct your attention to them,

         6       if we can go to the third page, which will be

         7       DFT.0012.0131.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   That's the fourth page.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Q.   Page 0130.  Now, do you see that form of

        12       contract?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Have you seen AWB contracts, or do you recall seeing

        16       contracts in that form?

        17       A.   Yes, it looks generally familiar.

        18

        19       Q.   You will see, if I can just pause there for a moment,

        20       that the price is referred to - I will overlook the actual

        21       price - it gives a CIF FOT.  Do you understand what "FOT"

        22       meant?  Or do you now understand what "FOT" means - perhaps

        23       I can put it that way.

        24       A.   I could only guess at that.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you recall having noticed the letters "FOT", or

        27       "FIT", in contract documents?

        28       A.   Not specifically, no.

        29

        30       Q.   And that would be consistent with the approach you

        31       have described in the process undertaken by DFAT in simply

        32       completing the application form and ensuring that it was

        33       properly completed to meet the UN expectation?

        34       A.   That's correct.  That's consistent with my

        35       understanding of the UN Mission role.

        36

        37       Q.   So there was no review process undertaken of the

        38       contract terms themselves?

        39       A.   No, not by the UN Mission.

        40

        41       Q.   If I can take you to the last of the pages in that

        42       bundle, 0133 --

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:  0134. 0133 is the last page of the Iraqi

        45       contract, and the last page of the bundle is the AWB

        46       contract.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you see that form of contract, 14 October 1999 - if

         4       it can be moved up a bit, you will see that it contains

         5       essentially the same term as the contract that my friend

         6       showed you a little earlier, dated July?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   If this contract was sent to Deb Watson at DFAT, you

        10       would expect that she or someone else at DFAT would have

        11       filled in the appropriate parts of an application form and

        12       then sent the material on to UN New York?

        13       A.   Yes, or sent it on to New York to fill in the form.

        14

        15       Q.   I want to take you, if I may, to your cable of

        16       13 January.  You have already been asked some questions

        17       about this.  It is DFT.0001.0179.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   It looks like we have two versions of it,

        20       Commissioner.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is exhibit 456.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   It is exhibit 456, but there is another version

        25       of it at page DFT.0001.0258.  That will do, thank you.

        26

        27       Q.   I think you said that the content of this cable was

        28       prepared by you following a telephone conversation with

        29       Ms Johnston?

        30       A.   That's right.

        31

        32       Q.   I want to suggest to you that this email conveys --

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you mean email or cable?

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   I am sorry, this cable.

        37

        38       Q.   This cable contains the following information, and

        39       I would like to summarise it and ask if you agree or not to

        40       the propositions.  First of all, it is plain, isn't it,

        41       that ultimately it refers to a complaint which has been

        42       made potentially about AWB and its dealings with Iraq.

        43       A.   A complaint that has been made potentially, did you

        44       say?

        45

        46       Q.   A complaint made about AWB - put aside "potentially" -

        47       and its dealings with Iraq.
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         1       A.   That's right.

         2

         3       Q.   One of the complaints being made is that there are

         4       payments being made by vendors outside of the Oil-for-Food

         5       Program?

         6       A.   That's correct.

         7

         8       Q.   And that these payments are being made from funds

         9       derived from the escrow account?

        10       A.   That's right.

        11

        12       Q.   And that the funds are derived from the escrow account

        13       by the inflation of the price for goods?

        14       A.   Correct.

        15

        16       Q.   It also contains the information that there had been a

        17       communication with the IGB which had named the AWB as

        18       having paid a fee?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And payment of the fee had been described as a

        22       kickback?

        23       A.   Yes, I believe it had.

        24

        25       Q.   What had been conveyed by you in this cable was that

        26       unless the fee was paid - and this, of course, is based on

        27       information provided to you, but unless the fee was paid -

        28       the supplier would not be given a contract with Iraq?

        29       A.   That's right.

        30

        31       Q.   So that the reader of this cable would be under no

        32       misunderstanding that the allegation at least was that

        33       unless the payment was made Iraq would not enter into a

        34       contract with the supplier?

        35       A.   Yes, on this occasion.

        36

        37       Q.   You have been taken to the exchanges that occurred

        38       between you and DFAT in Canberra.  If I may summarise as

        39       follows, and you can agree or not as you see fit.  Can

        40       I suggest that the exchange of cables and the ultimate

        41       response by AWB to the request for information indicate

        42       that the issue under consideration changed from a complaint

        43       to a complaint and what was described as an additional

        44       issue, which was the contract terms issue, and ended up

        45       being satisfied, in terms of a response from the AWB, by

        46       provision only of the contract terms - the usual terms.  Do

        47       you accept that there was a process of that sort which
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         1       emerges or distills from the cables?

         2       A.   That's right, although I wouldn't describe the - to

         3       the extent that you are implying that the original

         4       complaint changed, I wouldn't say it changed.  I think the

         5       original issue remained, but the additional point was that

         6       the OIP speculated, as I understand it, that they thought

         7       this complaint could be clarified through the provision of

         8       these additional terms and conditions.  So it was a

         9       continuum.

        10

        11       Q.   Yes.  But the only formal response, if you like, was

        12       one which concerned the terms and conditions of the

        13       contract - the usual terms and conditions - and the

        14       complaint that was made appeared to either merge in that or

        15       evaporate altogether?

        16       A.   No, that's not my understanding.  The request for the

        17       terms and conditions was put precisely to help clarify,

        18       respond to the complaint.  The way it was put to me by the

        19       Office of the Iraq Program was that, to the extent that the

        20       complaint implied that something was happening outside the

        21       Oil-for-Food Program, and to the extent that the AWB's

        22       contracts implied that there were terms and conditions

        23       outside, which the UN hadn't seen before, if they could

        24       obtain copies of the latter it would - they speculated that

        25       they were reasonably confident - possibly answer this

        26       concern.  So that the two were linked in that way.

        27

        28       Q.   So if I can put it this way, the solution or the

        29       formal response was the product of the analysis of the

        30       issue that was undertaken by the OIP in concluding itself

        31       that a look at the usual terms and conditions would satisfy

        32       its inquiry.

        33       A.   That and the assurances that the Wheat Board gave DFAT

        34       Canberra.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I might take a short

        37       adjournment and then we will proceed.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Thank you, sir.

        40

        41       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   Q.   Ms Moules, can I just digress for one

        44       moment and go back to some questions I was asking you

        45       earlier about the debriefing meetings, and I asked you

        46       about the preparation of the reports, and the like, and

        47       I think you said that some information may have been



            .14/3/06 (45)              4500     B N MOULES (Mr Judd)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       factored into other reports on Iraq that were sent back to

         2       Canberra.  Is my understanding correct?

         3       A.   That's right.

         4

         5       Q.   How frequently would you prepare such reports on Iraq

         6       and send them to Canberra?

         7       A.   It varied depending on the amount of activity going on

         8       in the - particularly in the security council on Iraq

         9       sanctions.  It could be - at certain times it may have been

        10       up to three times a week.  At other times it may have been

        11       once a fortnight, depending on the issues.

        12

        13       Q.   And what form did these reports take?

        14       A.   Cables.

        15

        16       Q.   They were directed to a particular person or, as we

        17       have seen in other examples, simply sent to DFAT in

        18       Canberra and then distributed as the analysts saw fit; is

        19       that how it worked?

        20       A.   That's correct.  During the whole time of my posting

        21       in New York the distribution was handled by the

        22       communications analysts in Canberra.

        23

        24       Q.   Could you just remind us how long it was you were

        25       posted in New York?

        26       A.   I was there from January 1999 to January 2002.

        27

        28       Q.   So there would be, you would expect, perhaps some

        29       hundreds of such reports?

        30       A.   On the Oil-for-Food Program per se I don't know

        31       whether it would go into hundreds.  On Iraq broadly,

        32       probably hundreds, yes, of which some might contain

        33       information on sanctions and the Oil-for-Food Program.

        34

        35       Q.   But a significant number, in any event, of those

        36       reports were concerned with the Oil-for-Food Program in

        37       Iraq?

        38       A.   Yes, with sanctions and the Oil-for-Food Program.

        39

        40       Q.   When did you first learn that a component of the

        41       contractual arrangement between the AWB and the IGB

        42       involved the payment by the AWB of a fee for transportation

        43       of goods or discharge of goods or trucking fees - something

        44       of that kind?

        45       A.   I don't recall when I first heard that, but it wasn't

        46       during my posting in New York.

        47
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         1       Q.   You are confident of that, are you?

         2       A.   Yes, to the best of my recollection I don't recall

         3       hearing about that in New York.

         4

         5       Q.   You had telephone conversations and discussions from

         6       time to time with Mr Nicholas at Austrade?

         7       A.   Very infrequently, but yes, on occasions.

         8

         9       Q.   Did Mr Nicholas discuss with you the complaint that

        10       had been made about the AWB?

        11       A.   Yes, he did.

        12

        13       Q.   He prepared a cable, didn't he, and that was sent to

        14       you?

        15       A.   That wasn't sent to me at the time - I don't recall

        16       seeing it at the time, but I know the cable you are

        17       referring to.

        18

        19       Q.   When do you recall first seeing that cable?

        20       A.   I think it was in the context of the material being

        21       gathered in preparation for this inquiry.  I don't recall

        22       seeing it in New York.

        23

        24       Q.   Would you ordinarily make notes of a conversation with

        25       someone such as Mr Nicholas?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   The particular cable I have in mind, Ms Moules - and I

        29       will draw your attention to it - is at DFT.0001.0261, of

        30       11 March 2000.  It should come up on the screen in just a

        31       moment.  If we could scroll down the page, do you recall

        32       this cable?

        33       A.   I recall it now, I have seen it before, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   But perhaps, you are saying, you didn't receive a copy

        36       of it at the time?

        37       A.   I don't recall whether I received it or not.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think that's exhibit 459.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Thank you.

        42

        43       Q.   But you do recall a conversation with Mr Nicholas

        44       about the subject matter?

        45       A.   That's right.

        46

        47       Q.   Did he advise you that Ms Johnston had said that there
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         1       were continuing concerns by the Mission of a third party

         2       country that the AWB had agreed to the irregular payment

         3       terms required by the Grain Board?

         4       A.   That's my recollection, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   I want to show you an email this time, which is not

         7       from or to you, but it concerns the same subject matter.

         8       It is MAE.0002.0091.  It is exhibit 121.  It is an email

         9       from Mr Snowball to Mr Emons.  I don't suggest you have

        10       seen this before, but you will see it is a record, or

        11       purports to be a record, of a conversation or a discussion

        12       with Mr Nicholas.  If I can start at paragraph 1, perhaps

        13       that is the sensible place:

        14

        15            Alistair Nicholas, Austrade asked to meet

        16            with us in WDC (Trevor, Andrew McC --

        17

        18       that's McConville --

        19

        20            myself) --

        21

        22       that would be Mr Snowball:

        23

        24            Alistair had visited the UN in NY the week

        25            before.  A UN official had asked him for

        26            clarification of the following wording in

        27            our short form contract with grain Board of

        28            Iraq...

        29

        30       et cetera.  And then there is a reference to the terms.

        31

        32            Alistair had said that someone was asking

        33            him quietly/informally about payments AWB

        34            was making to Iraq for discharge/trucking.

        35            Alistair suggested to us that the request

        36            for information on the above contract

        37            clause was linked to this

        38            discharge/trucking payment issue.

        39

        40       Do you recall Mr Nicholas describing to you the complaint

        41       in terms of a discharge/trucking payment issue?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   Or making reference to discharge and trucking?

        45       A.   No, I don't.

        46

        47       Q.   It goes on to say:
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         1

         2            We played down the issue and said we would

         3            look at the UN request.

         4            I called the Aust Mission to the UN and

         5            asked Bronte Moules to speak to UN to make

         6            sure UN had actually requested some

         7            information.  I also asked Bronte to call

         8            Alistair.

         9

        10       Do you recall whether it was you who called him or he you?

        11       A.   I can't recall if he had called me already or if

        12       I called him.  I think he may have called me, but I can't

        13       recall who called who.

        14

        15       Q.   But, in any event, you have no recollection at all of

        16       there being any mention of discharge or trucking fees or

        17       discharge or trucking payments as the issue which was the

        18       subject of the complaint?

        19       A.   No, but - to the best of my recollection, that wasn't

        20       mentioned at all.

        21

        22       Q.   Now, in the midst of these exchanges, on 4 February

        23       2000 we have a fax, a copy fax from Mr Borlase to

        24       Mr Grenenger, of DFAT.  Do you know who Mr Grenenger is?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Was he at DFAT in Canberra at the same time as you

        28       were in New York?

        29       A.   Yes, at least part of the time.

        30

        31       Q.   And was he one of the people who would communicate

        32       with you concerning contract approvals?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Was he one of the people who would send to you

        36       documentation which he had collected or obtained in

        37       Australia for the purpose of obtaining the UN approval?

        38       A.   Yes, I think documentation came from him sometimes.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   If I could ask for this document - I have

        41       already given notice of this to our friends at the Bar

        42       table, whether they have been able to locate it or not

        43       I don't know.  It is dated 4 February 2000, a facsimile

        44       from Mr Borlase to Mr Grenenger, and it will have three

        45       attachments.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   We have it as AWB.0069.0047.
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   Could we have that document brought up on the

         3       screen, please.  Could I ask my learned friend to tender

         4       that document - perhaps now will be the appropriate time.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  I will tender that.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #551 FACSIMILE DATED 4/2/2000 FROM MR BORLASE TO

         9       MR GRENENGER, WITH THREE ATTACHMENTS,

        10       BARCODED AWB.0069.0047

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   My understanding is that it is a four-page fax.

        13       It is a cover sheet dated 4 February 2000, with three

        14       short-form contracts attached, although my copy only has

        15       two of those.

        16

        17       Q.   I am not suggesting that this was sent to you,

        18       Ms Moules, but looking at the content of the fax and the

        19       attachments, if perhaps we could move through the document

        20       on a page-by-page basis as Ms Moules is finished reading

        21       the first page.  There are three, or ought to be three,

        22       contracts attached to this, Ms Moules, following the same

        23       form, each dated January 2000.  Do you accept that, in the

        24       ordinary course, whether together with this fax or not,

        25       these three contracts would have found their way to you for

        26       processes with the UN?

        27       A.   That would have been the normal procedure, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   At this time you had been alerted by Ms Johnston to

        30       the issues that you set out in your January cable.  Did it

        31       occur to you --

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   I am just wondering whether that could be

        34       right.  I don't mean to interrupt my friend, but the fax as

        35       I have it is dated 4 February 2000.  The contract is dated

        36       20 January 2000.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   It is the same composition as I have.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  I apologise.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   I am sorry if I misstated that.  The fax cover

        43       sheet is 4 February 2000.  The contracts are each dated

        44       20 January 2000.

        45

        46       Q.   Do you accept, in the ordinary course, if these

        47       contracts had been sent through by Mr Borlase to
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         1       Mr Grenenger, they would have found their way for

         2       processing to you, or to your group in New York?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   What would follow from the receipt of three new

         6       contracts was, I suggest, that the Iraq Grain Board was

         7       obviously willing to enter into contracts with AWB for the

         8       supply of wheat; correct?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   And what had been suggested by Ms Johnston, and

        12       recorded in your email, was in part that Iraq would only do

        13       so if the supplier would agree to make the so-called

        14       illicit payments; do you accept that?

        15       A.   That's what had been alleged by a third party to the

        16       UN.

        17

        18       Q.   But as far as you were concerned it was no part of

        19       your responsibility to police, as it were, the compliance

        20       of these contracts with the UN resolutions - that was a

        21       matter for the 661 committee?

        22       A.   Yes.  We didn't have the means at the UN Mission to

        23       police the requirements.

        24

        25       Q.   Are you suggesting that the receipt of three new

        26       contracts didn't raise any red flags or alarm bells in your

        27       mind about the allegations that had been made via

        28       Ms Johnston to you?

        29       A.   In the absence of any evidence or new material, no.

        30

        31       Q.   If I can take you next to a cable which is attached to

        32       your statement.  It is dated 26 March 2001 and it now has

        33       an exhibit number.  It is DFT.0001.0161 to 64.

        34       I understand my friend took you to this cable briefly a

        35       little earlier.  I had in mind that it had been tendered,

        36       but if not, I would ask my friend to do that.  This is a

        37       cable that was prepared by you?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   It, I think as you described in your evidence and in

        41       your statements, concerns an issue that had been raised

        42       with the UN Mission concerning the 50 cent port fees and

        43       the legality of paying those fees?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   If I can take you across to paragraph 4 on the second

        47       page, it is 0001.0162, you will see at the top of
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         1       paragraph 4 you make mention of information you have been

         2       provided by the OIP.  You say this:

         3

         4            OIP said it could not give us a full

         5            answer.  OIP had on occasion sought a legal

         6            opinion on the issue of fees paid in Iraq

         7            in association with discharge and

         8            transportation of humanitarian supplies

         9            within Iraq.

        10

        11       It does seem, Ms Moules, that at least by this stage - that

        12       is, March of 2001 - you were aware that fees were being

        13       paid in Iraq in association with discharge and

        14       transportation of humanitarian supplies; is that a fair

        15       reading?

        16       A.   By some companies.

        17

        18       Q.   By some companies?

        19       A.   Yes, I don't - sorry, were you implying that I was

        20       aware that AWB was paying the fees?

        21

        22       Q.   Well, can I ask you, were you aware that AWB was

        23       paying such fees?

        24       A.   No, and I think OIP were saying that they were aware

        25       that some companies - there was an issue of discharge and

        26       transportation costs within Iraq.  I don't believe they

        27       were referring to AWB when they said that to me.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you ever have occasion to obtain a copy of or the

        30       substance of the legal opinion that is referred to in the

        31       second line?

        32       A.   No, I didn't.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Have you seen that, Mr Judd - the OIP

        35       opinion?

        36

        37       MR JUDD:  I am sorry, sir, I missed the question.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Have you seen that opinion?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   I have seen extracts from it.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   It deals with a completely different

        44       topic, if my memory serves me correctly.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   My recollection is that it is an opinion of

        47       Felicity Johnston that deals with payment of dollars or
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         1       dinar, if I am thinking of the correct one.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   The one I am thinking of deals with the

         4       question of whether or not a company could pay fees to

         5       transport goods from a country adjacent to Iraq when it was

         6       intended to sell them to a country on the other side of

         7       Iraq, and wanted to pay fees for having them transported

         8       across Iraq.  It had certainly nothing to do with wheat

         9       importations.  We may be at cross purposes.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   It appears that you may be better informed than

        12       either the witness or myself.  I have certainly seen an

        13       opinion of Ms Johnston in relation to - I think it is an

        14       opinion --

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   The one I am thinking of deals with

        17       transportation from Syria to Iran.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   Perhaps we can resolve it this way.

        20

        21       Q.   Ms Moules, do I understand you correctly that you

        22       don't know what that opinion relates to and you don't have

        23       a copy of it; is that the case?

        24       A.   The UN's legal opinion referred to here?

        25

        26       Q.   Yes.

        27       A.   Well, my understanding is that it related to fees

        28       associated with the discharge and transportation of

        29       humanitarian supplies within Iraq.  But no, I didn't have a

        30       copy of it.  I don't think a copy was available at the

        31       time.  If it was available, I would have faxed it to

        32       Canberra.

        33

        34       Q.   Do I understand this memo correctly, that the real

        35       issue of concern as you understood it within the OIP was

        36       concern of the currency in which any such payments would be

        37       made in Iraq?

        38       A.   Primarily, yes - how the payments were made.  Also the

        39       quantity of them.

        40

        41       Q.   But it was a question, wasn't it, of currency, in the

        42       sense that if payments were made in dinar, then subject to

        43       reasonableness, perhaps, as you understood it, the position

        44       of the OIP was that that would be acceptable?

        45       A.   That was what they were told - telling me, yes.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, subject to something emerging that
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         1       we don't anticipate from the material that we are being

         2       supplied this afternoon, I have got no further questions of

         3       this witness.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that cable.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Thank you, sir, yes.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   I believed that it was already in evidence with

        12       another barcode number.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   So did I, for some reason, but if we can make

        15       sure and tender the cable --

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   I will tender DFT.0001.0161 through to 0164.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be exhibit 552.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #552 CABLE FROM MS MOULES, BARCODED

        22       DFT.0001.0161-0164

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Forrest?

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Before my learned friend examines, can I just

        27       attend to one or two matters that I should have dealt with

        28       before I finished examining Ms Moules?  One is to tender a

        29       document to which Ms Moules makes reference in her second

        30       statutory declaration.  The document is a schedule that

        31       records various requests that were made, and that we sought

        32       to have addressed in statements from DFAT witnesses.

        33       I think it is referred to in Ms Moules' first statutory

        34       declaration.

        35

        36       EXHIBIT #553 SCHEDULE RECORDING VARIOUS REQUESTS MADE

        37       REFERRED TO IN FIRST STATUTORY DECLARATION OF MS MOULES

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   We have had an opportunity to consider the

        40       security council document which is a letter dated 8 August

        41       1996 from the chairman of the security council committee

        42       established by Resolution 661 concerning the situation

        43       between Iraq and Kuwait, addressed to the president of the

        44       security council.  This lengthy document, which is

        45       available, I understand, on the web, sets out the 661

        46       committee's requirements and outlines the way in which the

        47       program will operate in practice.  I tender that document.
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         1       It is not yet barcoded.

         2

         3       EXHIBIT #554 LETTER DATED 8/8/1996 FROM CHAIRMAN OF

         4       SECURITY COUNCIL COMMITTEE ESTABLISHED BY RESOLUTION 661

         5       CONCERNING SITUATION BETWEEN IRAQ AND KUWAIT

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is the one that contains those

         8       clauses?

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Yes, it contains those clauses and the

        11       reference to paragraph 33 that we saw in the evidence of

        12       this witness.  The schedule that I referred to earlier

        13       again is not barcoded, but it is entitled "Appendix A, list

        14       of issues to be addressed".  It was drawn up with a view to

        15       directing the minds of the various DFAT and Commonwealth

        16       witnesses to be called.  I apologise for the interruption.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Yes, Mr Forrest?

        19

        20       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, on behalf of two of the clients

        21       we represent there is some cross-examination.  That is

        22       Mr Snowball and Mr Long.  If it is convenient, I would

        23       propose that my learned junior Mr Carter conduct the

        24       cross-examination insofar as Mr Snowball is concerned and I

        25       will do the cross-examination insofar as Mr Long is

        26       concerned.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        29

        30       MR FORREST:   Perhaps we can start with Mr Carter's

        31       examination.  Thank you.

        32

        33       MR CARTER:   Just before I do, there is a matter that bears

        34       on the examination.  Yesterday a request was made for

        35       copies of the documents referred to in Ms Moules' second

        36       statement.  As you would be aware from pages 8 to 17 of

        37       that statement there was a heading "Relevant documents

        38       provided to an inquiry".  It finishes at page 3.59 with a

        39       reference to a summary of interview conducted with the

        40       Volcker Report on 25 February.  I seek access on behalf of

        41       my client to those documents.  I don't imagine there is

        42       much in many of them.  I am happy to proceed tonight, but

        43       we would seek those documents be provided and the

        44       opportunity to obtain instructions before concluding.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.

        47
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         1       MR CARTER:   The other matter that was requested was the

         2       notes of the witness, and I note that there has already

         3       been evidence to this effect.  If there are any that bear

         4       on the interests of Mr Snowball, could they be provided?

         5       Otherwise the examination shall proceed on the basis that

         6       there are none.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't know if there are any or not.

         9

        10       MR CARTER:   A request has been made of those assisting

        11       you, Commissioner, for the notes to be provided.  The

        12       response that I got was, "We will advise you when and if

        13       the documents to which you refer become available".  You

        14       will be no doubt astutely aware, Commissioner, of the

        15       degree of attention placed on our clients in respect to the

        16       provision of material.  All we are asking for is an even

        17       hand.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   You keep on saying that.  Let's go on.

        20

        21       MR CARTER:   It is important, sir.

        22

        23       <EXAMINATION BY MR CARTER:

        24

        25       MR CARTER:   Q.   Ms Moules, I appear on behalf of

        26       Mr Snowball, who, as you have said, was your major contact

        27       with the AWB in New York.  Most of your contact took place

        28       by telephone or fax?

        29       A.   That's correct.

        30

        31       Q.   And essentially you had a very good working

        32       relationship with each other?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   If he had a query for you, you would get back to him

        36       promptly, and vice versa?

        37       A.   That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   Most of your contact, insofar as the Oil-for-Food

        40       Program and Iraq was concerned, related to three issues,

        41       I suggest - perhaps these are related:  delays in payment

        42       from the escrow account, delays in approvals and contract

        43       extensions?

        44       A.   (Witness nods).

        45

        46       Q.   Do you agree with that?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   And so when one comes to look at the issues the

         3       subject of this inquiry, it is important to bear in mind

         4       that that really was the bulk of the traffic, if I can put

         5       it that way?

         6       A.   That's correct.

         7

         8       Q.   You described yourself in paragraph 10 of your first

         9       statement as performing a "post box" function.  By that you

        10       mean, I take it, that you were a link person between DFAT

        11       Canberra and the United Nations?

        12       A.   That's correct.

        13

        14       Q.   And I take it you have had the opportunity, because

        15       you have been directed to certain specific passages, to

        16       read the evidence given to this inquiry by Mr Snowball?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   You might have in fact read that he, at various

        20       points, described himself as a post box?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   And based on your interaction with him, you fully

        24       understood that he too was a post box, in the sense that he

        25       acted as a link person between AWB Melbourne and yourself

        26       in particular as the Australian representative of the

        27       permanent mission?

        28       A.   That's correct.

        29

        30       Q.   You have been asked some questions in relation to your

        31       role in respect of checking and approving contracts, and

        32       more broadly in respect of DFAT.  I don't want to retrace

        33       the ground that has already been covered, but could I ask

        34       you just a couple of matters.  You were taken specifically

        35       to contract A4822 in the course of preparing your second

        36       statement, and you confirmed, as Mr Snowball had indicated

        37       under questioning, that you had that contract; correct?

        38       A.   Yes.  We had copies of all the contracts that were

        39       sent to the UN Mission.  We kept them on the file in the

        40       Mission, so yes, we had them on the file in the Mission.

        41

        42       Q.   Now, that's a contract that indeed, as my learned

        43       friend Mr Agius indicated, is the fourth - accepting his

        44       word for present purposes - of the contracts that contained

        45       the free in truck clause - the first three being on

        46       14 July; that one, the one I have just described, A4822,

        47       being dated 14 October 1999.  Now, my question is did you
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         1       in fact read that document?

         2       A.   Did I read the whole contract?

         3

         4       Q.   Yes.

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   That remains your evidence even once it comes to the

         8       point of the third party complaint being raised by Felicity

         9       Johnston?

        10       A.   Yes.  And I should add that when the third party

        11       complaint was raised, no mention was made of that contract

        12       by --

        13

        14       Q.   Or of any contract?

        15       A.   Or of any specific contract.  They referred to the

        16       contract in a generic sense.

        17

        18       Q.   I just wonder if it is fair to say that in your second

        19       statement you go into somewhat more detail about the role

        20       of DFAT in the contract approval process - not being

        21       critical about that, but that's a fair comment, isn't it?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   One of the things that you deposed to, in paragraph 2b

        25       of your supplementary statutory declaration, is that when

        26       DFAT received an application and a contract they examined

        27       the documents for the purposes of ascertaining that the

        28       application had been completed in accordance with its

        29       terms.  Do you see that passage?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Now, earlier today in your evidence, I understand in

        33       respect of a slightly different topic, you stated, at

        34       page 4467, that you hesitate to speak about what was done

        35       by DFAT Canberra, given where you were.  Can I ask you, in

        36       light of that evidence, on what basis do you make the

        37       statement at 2b, the first sentence?

        38       A.   That was my understanding of what DFAT Canberra did.

        39

        40       Q.   Yes.  I accept that, but it must have had some

        41       foundation.  What was the foundation of your

        42       understanding - who told you what, in other words?

        43       A.   Well, that was what the people working in the area

        44       told me.  That was my understanding of what they did, based

        45       on my interaction with them.

        46

        47       Q.   But you see in your initial statement, paragraph 8,
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         1       the second sentence, you say:

         2

         3            DFAT and the UN Mission had no role in

         4            perusing the contracts.

         5

         6       What I am suggesting to you is that in your second

         7       statement a polite way to describe it is that you have

         8       enlarged it, another analysis is that it is in conflict.

         9       I am asking you the source of your understanding for what

        10       is said in 2b of your second statement.

        11       A.   The relevant area of DFAT Canberra.

        12

        13       Q.   And when were you told that?

        14       A.   When I was preparing this statement.

        15

        16       Q.   So you were told that in the course of preparing for

        17       your evidence of this inquiry?

        18       A.   That's right.

        19

        20       Q.   It is not a reflection on your state of mind at the

        21       time that you performed your post-box function in New York?

        22       A.   It accords with my general recollection, but having

        23       not worked at the Canberra end, no, I didn't have a

        24       first-hand understanding of how that was handled.

        25

        26       Q.   I will come back to that contract A4822 shortly.  You

        27       accept, I take it, having looked at it now, that if you had

        28       read it, clearly it would have come to your attention that

        29       there was a clause within it under the heading "Shipment"

        30       that said - and Mr Agius took you to part of this - "The

        31       discharge cost will be a maximum of US$12 and shall be paid

        32       by sellers to the nominated Maritime Agents in Iraq"?

        33       A.   Sorry, can you repeat the question?

        34

        35       Q.   Do you accept that, if you'd read it, you would have

        36       seen it?

        37       A.   If I had read it, I would have read that, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Even if you had looked at it?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   I want to now ask you some questions in relation to

        43       what has been called the third party complaint.  Can

        44       I confirm with you first of all that the evidence that you

        45       give is essentially a reconstruction based on the relevant

        46       cables that you have referred to and which, helpfully, have

        47       been provided with your statement?
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         1       A.   Yes, that's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   And that essentially your point of contact in respect

         4       of the third party complaint is Felicity Johnston?

         5       A.   Yes.  My contact at the UN - yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Now, when she raises it with you there is no material,

         8       and you don't say, do you, that you then communicated about

         9       that with Mr Snowball?

        10       A.   No.  I don't believe I did communicate with

        11       Mr Snowball in the first instance.

        12

        13       Q.   Now, is that something that you could be sure about,

        14       or is that your best recollection?

        15       A.   It is the best of my recollection, and it is the sort

        16       of detail that I am fairly certain I would have put in the

        17       cable, had I passed the information on to New York as well.

        18       So I am as certain as I can be that I didn't.

        19

        20       Q.   And as I understand your evidence earlier, you say

        21       that it was determined that it would be an issue that you

        22       would take up - that you felt should be resolved between

        23       DFAT headquarters - I take it you mean Canberra - and AWB

        24       headquarters, rather than sort it out by the post box?

        25       A.   That's correct.

        26

        27       Q.   Can I just ask you - and these are perhaps questions

        28       for the uninitiated - to look at the first of your cables,

        29       exhibit 456, the cable dated 13 January 2000.  No doubt

        30       someone can help us with the barcode number.  It is

        31       DFT.0001.0258.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   I think we have exhibit 456 at DFT.0001.0179.

        34       It may well be the same document, but that is the barcode

        35       number of the exhibit.

        36

        37       MR CARTER:   Q.   My questions in relation to this are,

        38       first of all, if we could go back up to the top of the

        39       document, what is the difference between "unclassified" and

        40       "declassified"?

        41       A.   "Unclassified" normally means a document when it is

        42       initiated has no classification - it is an unclassified

        43       document.  And then "classified" obviously means it has a

        44       classification.  "Declassified" is when the classification

        45       is removed and it becomes unclassified.

        46

        47       Q.   What's the difference between "declassified" and
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         1       "secret"?

         2       A.   "Declassified" means any classification has been

         3       removed.  "Secret" means it carries a classification of

         4       secret.

         5

         6       Q.   Now, do you see that on this particular document there

         7       is a line through "secret" and then a date above it.  Does

         8       that mean anything to you?

         9       A.   Not specifically, but it appears that it was

        10       declassified on 17 January this year.

        11

        12       Q.   And I take it, to probably short-circuit this, you

        13       yourself don't personally have any role in that decision

        14       making?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Can I ask you also, do you see under the heading that

        18       there is an entry "printed by", and it appears to be

        19       "bbornas, Tuesday, 15 February 2005".  Does that date mean

        20       anything to you?

        21       A.   No, that indicates, though, that it was printed on

        22       that date by that person.

        23

        24       Q.   I note from your statement - we have not yet been

        25       furnished with the document, although, according to your

        26       statement, it is in the custody of the inquiry - that your

        27       interview with the Volcker committee was conducted on

        28       25 February, 10 days after that what appears to be a

        29       download.  Is it the case that you accessed all of the

        30       cables that you had written or were party to as a recipient

        31       prior to your interview with the Volcker Inquiry?

        32       A.   No, it is my recollection that I had access to very

        33       little material.

        34

        35       Q.   So in terms of the proximity of that date to your

        36       interview with the Volcker committee, you don't yourself

        37       draw any link?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   Coming back, then, to the third-party complaint, the

        41       situation is that you say that you didn't speak to

        42       Mr Snowball about it, and if I could put to you as a fact,

        43       just to have you confirm it, the first conversation he had

        44       about any issue relating to a request for the standard

        45       terms and conditions was after the Austrade meeting?

        46       A.   Yes - certainly as far as any - yes.  I'm not aware of

        47       any other contact he had.
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         1

         2       Q.   My learned friend Mr Judd took you a little while ago

         3       to the email that Mr Snowball sent back to Mr Emons in

         4       Melbourne?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Which in part recorded that he contacted you?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   His evidence, as you read, was that he contacted you

        11       and told you exactly what had happened at the meeting, and

        12       you don't dispute that evidence at all, do you?

        13       A.   Some of what he said happened at the meeting wasn't

        14       reflected in his conversation with me, but my - yes, but he

        15       contacted me and told me about the meeting.

        16

        17       Q.   Your record of your conversation with him is what?

        18       A.   Is that he contacted me to ask if the UN had made

        19       these inquiries about the third party allegation, about

        20       irregular payments.

        21

        22       Q.   And that's in his email?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Sorry, perhaps it is a fault of the question.  When

        26       I say "your record", what did you rely on to give your

        27       evidence about what conversation Mr Snowball had with you?

        28       A.   My cable - the cables.

        29

        30       Q.   The cable that you sent?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   I just want to be clear about this in fairness,

        34       Ms Moules.  Do you accept that it is possible that you did

        35       talk to Mr Snowball about the third party complaint

        36       in February of 2000 after it had been raised with you by

        37       Felicity Johnston of the contract process, et cetera?

        38       A.   And before it had come to --

        39

        40       Q.   And before that telephone call from Mr Snowball after

        41       the Austrade meeting?

        42       A.   I am as certain as I can be that I didn't have any

        43       conversations with him.

        44

        45       Q.   It is six years ago.  I am just wondering if you

        46       accept that it is possible that you did?

        47       A.   In the realms of possibility, but it doesn't accord
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         1       with my recollection or with what I judged was the

         2       appropriate way to handle it.

         3

         4       Q.   You must understand I am not putting to you positively

         5       that that did happen, it is just something I wanted to

         6       explore with you in light of the material we are coming to.

         7       Now, you understand that, like you, what Mr Snowball did in

         8       his evidence was essentially engage in a reconstruction

         9       based on documents that were available and became available

        10       to him.  One of those documents was a handwritten note

        11       which was contained in his diary books.  Could we bring up,

        12       please, AWB.0187.0226, which is exhibit 386.  I take it you

        13       have been taken to this note; you have specifically

        14       addressed it in your statement.  What you say in your

        15       statement is that you don't recollect discussing anything

        16       to do with trucking with Mr Snowball.  Now, Mr Snowball has

        17       given evidence in respect of that note, that begins with

        18       "Iraq 3 contracts".  I am not going to read it all out, but

        19       the part that is potentially significant is the bottom

        20       entry "Canada - vessels rejected at Umm Qasr", and then the

        21       arrow "Asked about trucking fee - AWB pays the Jordan

        22       trucking Co".  Now, you have no recollection, you say, of

        23       either you informing Mr Snowball of that or him informing

        24       you of that.

        25       A.   No.  No, I don't know - I don't know exactly what

        26       that's referring to.

        27

        28       Q.   As to the entry above that, do you accept that that

        29       appears to be a reference to a discussion that Mr Snowball

        30       is having with you about three contracts that are part of

        31       the current distribution plan?

        32       A.   Yes, it appears to be.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you, Ms Moules, in preparing your response, the

        35       sections of your response to Mr Snowball's evidence in your

        36       second statement, conduct a search or have a search

        37       conducted for any proximate correspondence from you to

        38       Mr Snowball that might throw some light on this matter?

        39       A.   I understood I had been provided with all the relevant

        40       material from the time.

        41

        42       MR CARTER:   Could I ask, please, that this document be

        43       brought up.  I am not sure that this is an exhibit yet,

        44       Commissioner, I may be wrong.  It is AWB.USA.000750.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   That's not our barcode.  We won't be able to

        47       find that.
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         1

         2       MR CARTER:   I am sorry, Commissioner.  I assume it is my

         3       confusion about the barcoding.  I have an unmarked copy.

         4       It is a four-page facsimile from Ms Moules to Tim Snowball

         5       dated 25 February 2000.  I am happy to show it to my

         6       learned friend.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   We may have it barcoded.  I will bring up the

         9       barcoded copy.  What is the date?

        10

        11       MR CARTER:   25 February 2000.  What I want to do,

        12       Commissioner, is show it to the witness, but I am happy if

        13       it goes through Mr Agius or whoever else it needs to.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   It is AWB.7001.0351.  I will tender it.  It is

        16       a four-page document.

        17

        18       EXHIBIT #555 FOUR-PAGE FACSIMILE FROM MS MOULES TO

        19       TIM SNOWBALL, DATED 25/2/2000, BARCODED AWB.7001.0351

        20

        21       MR CARTER:   Q.   Can you see that on the screen?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   I will just allow you a moment to look at that.  What

        25       I want to suggest to you - and this was not a document that

        26       Mr Snowball was examined on, I should indicate - is that

        27       that facsimile very clearly refers, first of all in the

        28       opening words, to your "conversation yesterday"?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Amongst other things, just to take an example, it

        32       refers to the fact, in the second sentence of the third

        33       paragraph, that there is now no limit on the amount of

        34       revenue Iraq is permitted to generate from oil sales?

        35       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        36

        37       Q.   That subject matter is precisely reflected in the

        38       handwritten note that I have previously taken you to?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   So we know, we can now establish, that the handwritten

        42       note is a record of the conversation between Mr Snowball

        43       and you on or about 24 February 2000 - do you accept that?

        44       A.   That section of it that refers to these issues, yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, yes, I am taking it one step at a time.  Clearly

        47       the first section of that note obviously relates to what
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         1       you followed up by fax?

         2       A.   Yes, it does appear to.

         3

         4       Q.   It relates to the distribution plan.  Now, the second

         5       section, you understand that Mr Snowball's evidence - this

         6       particular evidence appears at 3043, line 29, and 3054,

         7       line 22 - was that, to the best of his reconstruction, his

         8       belief was that the note reflected the conversation that he

         9       had with the Mission to the United Nations --

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, I can't hear you,

        12       Mr Carter.

        13

        14       MR CARTER:   My apologies, sir.

        15

        16       Q.   What I was putting was that the effect of

        17       Mr Snowball's evidence in respect of the note, the

        18       handwritten note - that is, the entirety of it - was that

        19       it was based on a conversation with the Mission to the

        20       United Nations.  I identified two passages in the evidence

        21       where that takes place, and then added that, seen in

        22       context of all of his evidence, that meant with Ms Moules

        23       herself.  What I then want to put to you is do you accept

        24       that, despite your lack of recollection, it is possible

        25       that you and Mr Snowball did have a conversation that

        26       raised the subject of the trucking fee and AWB paying the

        27       Jordan trucking company?

        28       A.   I have no recollection of that.

        29

        30       Q.   You accept that it is possible, based on the note?

        31       A.   Yes, as a matter of possibility, but it is not

        32       consistent with my recollection.

        33

        34       Q.   You don't have a note of this conversation, do you?

        35       A.   No, I do not.

        36

        37       Q.   Do you accept that, given the timing of the Felicity

        38       Johnston complaint to you, the fact that your facsimile of

        39       27 February 2000 relates to this note or part of it, and

        40       the fact that the line on the handwritten note is

        41       underneath the entry concerning Canada and AWB pays the

        42       Jordan trucking company, it is likely that there was some

        43       conversation with Mr Snowball, albeit neither of you have a

        44       recollection of it?

        45       A.   I am sorry, can you repeat that?  There was no - the

        46       third party complaint didn't refer to trucking fees or

        47       Canada.  So it bears no relationship to the handwritten
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         1       note that you are referring to.

         2

         3       MR CARTER:  Perhaps if I can leave the facsimile.  I would

         4       ask that that be tendered, if that has not already

         5       happened.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   It has been tendered; it is

         8       exhibit 555.

         9

        10       MR CARTER:   Q.  We will leave that on the basis that you

        11       accept that it is possible that there was a discussion

        12       between you and Mr Snowball, even though you point out that

        13       it is at odds with your written records?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Can I just ask one further question in relation to the

        17       third party complaint and your evidence that you didn't

        18       raise trucking at all.  You identify in your cable back to

        19       DFAT, the first one that we have previously spoken of,

        20       reference to $14 per tonne being the sum of the complaining

        21       country was being required to pay outside the program;

        22       correct?

        23       A.   Sorry, I have identified it?

        24

        25       Q.   Yes.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Exhibit 456.  Can we put that on the

        28       screen?

        29

        30       MR CARTER:   Q.   Yes.  In exhibit 456, which you have been

        31       taken to, your initial cable back to DFAT, in the second

        32       paragraph you say that what was being conveyed to you was

        33       that the country, when recently negotiating the contract,

        34       had been asked to agree to a payment system whereby US$14

        35       per metric tonne of wheat would be paid outside the

        36       Oil-for-Food Program.

        37       A.   Yes.  That's what the cable says, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Okay.  Now, your evidence, consistently, I should say,

        40       is that there was no reference made to trucking?

        41       A.   That's right.

        42

        43       Q.   Did you not ask them on what basis the $14 per tonne

        44       was to be applied, or what the mechanism for it was?

        45       A.   Did I not ask the Office of the Iraq Program?

        46

        47       Q.   Yes.  Wouldn't the obvious question to Felicity
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         1       Johnston be, "Well, how is the $14 supposedly being paid"?

         2       A.   No, my - I don't think it was an obvious question,

         3       because I understood she was providing me all the

         4       information she had available.  She said she didn't have

         5       all the details but she was providing me all the

         6       information she had.  So I had no reason to ask for - if

         7       there was additional information, she would have provided

         8       it.  That was my understanding.

         9

        10       Q.   One of the things that she did have was the contracts

        11       including the four contracts that Mr Agius has referred

        12       to - that's right, isn't it?

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, I didn't hear that.

        15

        16       THE WITNESS:   Did she have those contracts?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Sorry, what was that question?

        19

        20       MR CARTER:   Q.   One of the things that Felicity Johnston

        21       clearly would have had, as I understand your evidence, is

        22       the four contracts that Mr Agius has referred to in July -

        23       the three in July and then the one in October of 1999.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't understand the basis for that

        26       question.

        27

        28       MR CARTER:   Well, Felicity Johnston headed up the

        29       contracts processing section in the United Nations.

        30

        31       Q.   Is that right?

        32       A.   That's right.

        33

        34       Q.   As I understand your evidence as to the role of DFAT

        35       and ultimately the United Nations in approving contracts,

        36       it was her section, amongst others, that the contracts went

        37       to?

        38       A.   The contracts went through that section, that's right.

        39

        40       Q.   So your understanding is that she would have those

        41       same contracts?

        42       A.   She would have had, yes, access to any contracts that

        43       had been approved up to that point.

        44

        45       MR CARTER:   Sir, I am not sure what time you are sitting

        46       to.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   How long will you be?

         2

         3       MR CARTER:   I might have another 20 minutes.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we will adjourn until

         6       10 o'clock tomorrow morning.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Just before we do, can I tender the summary of

         9       the interview between Bronte Moules and the IIC

        10       investigators.  We will need to have that summary edited to

        11       remove the names of any IIC investigators, but we will

        12       attend to that, just so that I can provide my friend with a

        13       copy of it before he leaves today.  Might we have it marked

        14       as a public exhibit?

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  It will be exhibit 556.

        17

        18       EXHIBIT #556, INTERVIEW BETWEEN BRONTE MOULES AND THE IIC

        19       INVESTIGATORS

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   We will adjourn until 10am

        22

        23       AT 5.30PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED TO WEDNESDAY,

        24       15 MARCH 2006 AT 10AM

        25
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